The Hybrid Designer

By Jaime Barrett BFA, Western Washington University, 2003

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of:

Masters of Applied Art in Design Emily Carr Institute of Art + Design, 2008

abstract

Between September 17 and December 14, 2007, I observed third year design students enrolled in a course at Emily Carr Institute in Vancouver, British Columbia. The course, titled *Interaction Design*, was taught and devised by Louise St. Pierre, an Associate Professor of Industrial Design. The purpose of the course was to learn and apply co-creation as a method for both graphic and industrial design students. My main question while researching the classroom was whether primary research (such as co-creation) could create new avenues to inspire the designer's creative process; and if these personal connections could be transferred onto the design itself. In other words, I wanted to see if the designer felt compelled to create design solutions that directly reflected his/her specific audience.

My report is informed by both qualitative analysis and the work of other researchers and psychologists (Dr. Elizabeth B.-N. Sanders, Dr. William Gaver and others). While Sanders promotes a participatory mindset, she has studied the landscape of different research methods and offers a wide sample of research ideas for designers. Gaver, on the other hand, emphasizes the importance of subjective design. Throughout this report, I focus on potential outcomes and benefits from applying different mindsets during the design process, ranging from an expert to a participatory mindset. While being as objective as possible is crucial at times, it is also important to be aware of the role subjectivity plays during the creative process.

As a result, I discuss the emergence of the dual researcher/designer—referring to him as a hybrid designer. There are three characteristics that I would encourage in a hybrid designer: a humble and participatory mindset; an open-minded approach to research and design; and a strong reliance on intuition. I contend that the hybrid designer's solutions could be noticeably holistic, personal, and sustainable compared to those obtained by other design methods that do not incorporate primary research.

ii

table of contents

- ii abstract
- iii table of contents
- iv list of figures and tables
- v preface
- v acknowledgements
- 6 chapter one
- 7 introduction
- 9 goals of the research
- 11 influences and other related material
- 14 the context of research methods

19 chapter two

- 20 outline of the course
- 27 team C
- 30 team D
- 32 team E
- 36 chapter three
- 40 intuition
- 43 chapter four
- 44 making meaning
- 46 subjectivity
- 47 conclusion
- 49 bibliography
- 55 glossary of terms
- 56 appendix of tables

list of figures and tables

iv

10	Figures 1–3	34	Figure 24
	Examples of the distributed surveys		Team E's j
18	Figures 4–6		Figure 26
	Photo documentation of the		MeNu: Tea
	Interaction Design Class	35	Figure 27
21	Figures 7–9		Graph rep
	Prototyping the toolkits in class		over their
24	Figure 10	57	Table 1
	Team A making prototypes		Framewor
	Figure 11	58	Table 2
	Student demonstrating a		Questionn
	paper prototype	59	Table 3
	Figure 12		Questionn
	The final wristband for Chris	60	Table 4
25	Figure 13		Questionn
	Sensimo: Team A's final design	61	Table 5
26	Figure 14		Questionn
	<i>Elsa:</i> Team B's final design	65	Table 6
28	Figure 15		Team A
	Team C's workbook in Braille	66	Table 7
	Figures 16 and 17		Team B
	Various textures and stickers for	67	Table 8
	Team C's toolkit session		Team C
29	Figure 18	68	Table 9.1
	Team C presenting their finished		Team D
	toolkit to class	69	Table 9.2
	Figure 19 and 20		Team D
	Team C prototyping their ideas with	70	Table 10.1
	the rest of the class		Team E
30	Figure 21	71	Table 10.2
	Braille Track: Team C's final design		Team E
31	Figures 22 and 23		
	Health Avenue: Team D's final design		

and 25 prototype and sketches am E's final design resenting each mindset approach to co-creation rk for analysis aire One naire Two aire Three aire Four

preface

The research presented in this paper was directed fundamentally by a qualitative process. I offer my findings as a personal interpretation, from my perspective as a graphic designer, fully knowing that another researcher could have arrived at different conclusions. While quantitative data was unavailable, I have tried to be as balanced as possible by making my methods apparent (in the following pages and appendices), and by including all major documents that have informed my research.

acknowledgements

Many thanks to Sharon Romero, Louise St. Pierre, Karolle Wall, Dr. Elizabeth B.-N. Sanders and Dr. Monique Fouquet.

6 chapter one

introduction

The bulk of this paper discusses the experience of observing a third-year design course taught by Louise St. Pierre at Emily Carr Institute. I actively observed, recorded and interacted with the undergraduate class over the duration of the semester. The students were to conduct participatory design research as a method to enhance the creative process. This method of working with non-designers, namely those who benefit from the design solution, is also known as co-creation.

My background as a graphic designer and as a design researcher greatly influences my perspective on design and research in the following a paper. My initial question at the beginning of the observation was whether there would be an emotional connection deriving from the personal engagement of the designer with the co-creator, and how this might transfer onto the design product. I wanted to know specifically if emotional connections between the designer and the participant would influence the designer to the point of decidedly creating an outcome that would best suit the participant. In the end, I observed that St. Pierre's students were in fact able to locate specific information owing to the personal nature of the research, and create design outcomes that reflected their participant's lifestyle. This was not true for all design outcomes in the classroom, however, and what I have further discovered is that—perhaps because of the designer's "people skills"—the level of interaction directly affected the quality of information that was gathered during the research. This, in turn, influenced how personal or impersonal final design was.

While there are vast fields of psychology and psychoanalysis yet to be explored in relation to design, the scope of this paper discusses design in the context of research as a qualitative tool for inspiration and emotional insight. It is beyond the scope of this paper to discuss the precise details of emotion and design, the psychology of affect, or transference. Nor do I mean to claim that the methods I discuss in this paper are the only or best methods to use. I merely offer the potential qualities and benefits of various first-hand, qualitative methods that celebrate collective creativity and personal engagement as a designer. My hope is to connect primary research with qualitative outcomes. lifestyle contexts of the audience that primary research—such as co-creation—can offer. Some will even say that focus groups can skew outcomes to the point that accurately predicting the audience's response becomes problematic. Participatory research, on the other hand, could offer a deeper and wider context to which the designer can refer during the brainstorming phase. By getting to know the audience first in their life and context, before product development, one could avoid flooding the marketplace with unwanted solutions that fail to meet the real needs of users.

I focus on the findings of two individuals who have been published extensively on their own research methodologies for designers: Dr. Elizabeth B.-N. Sanders and Dr. William Gaver, who are both widely known among groups of industrial designers and architects. However, their work does not overtly relate to the field of graphic design. Sanders practices and promotes participatory design methods, highlighting the importance of working closely with non-designers to inform the outcome of the designed object or system. Gaver, too, works with people, but his approach largely investigates design as a research tool to provoke and inspire. I appreciate Sanders' approach to design, since it requires the designer to see everyone as "creative." This outlook can seem disquieting to the practicing professional, since it contradicts how designers are typically taught—to think of themselves as creative leaders.¹

Cognitive psychologists label the traditional designer's outlook as an example of an "expert mindset".² Sanders argues, however, that with a "participatory mindset", designers are able to gather interesting and generative material.³ Sanders' map of differing mindsets refers to the varying degrees of possible attitudes or dispositions one holds about him- or herself while conducting research. The mindset can often imply the researcher's intentions or inclinations during the interviews. For instance, a researcher with an expert mindset seeks to validate a premonition or previously devised hypothesis, while a researcher with a participatory mindset seeks to discover the questions and answers with his participant during the interview. Through hands-on interaction between the designer and the co-creator, new and interesting information is gained, feeding the design process in novel ways.

Gaver, too, provides a fresh perspective that challenges the current role of design. He maintains that design shouldn't always focus on "solving problems" as this

^{1.} McCoy, Education in an Adolescent Profession, 4.

^{2.} Schon, The Reflective Practitioner, 300.

^{3.} Sanders, "Collective Creativity," 1.

only promotes functionality and efficiency. While this is nothing new, Gaver insists that the qualities of fun and play must also be intrinsic to the design outcome.⁴ He maintains that the design we surround ourselves with should value the playful and peculiar side of being human just as much as we value the logical and efficient. What is new, however, is the importance he places on valuing both sides of humanity—the rational and irrational—as they should both be given equal weight in the design process. Typically, his final design solutions critique current design. Most of his designs fall within the realm of critical or ambient design—objects that are made to make one think, play or ponder. They are made to delight and interact with the environment instead of serving a purpose. In short, they equally engage our eccentric and quirky side just as much as our logical and efficient side.

My experience as a research intern at Ziba Communications in Portland, Oregon, also influenced my viewpoint on this research. For three months, I studied and worked as a designer in the research department. It was an experience that opened my eyes to the life and viewpoint of social researchers who have built their careers largely on rigorous academic discourse and study. Many of my co-workers held doctorates in psychology and anthropology, and often provided a wealth of information. Because of my time at Ziba, I realized that researchers and designers have much more in common than I previously thought—research can be a creative process that requires sensitive observation skills. The research process is similar to design in many ways and this revelation has largely influenced my analysis.

goals of the research

As I've previously stated, the bulk of my thesis centres on the observations of a classroom conducted in the fall of 2007 at Emily Carr Institute. The class was a mixture of graphic and industrial design students. The course, *Interaction Design*, was both taught and conceived by Louise St. Pierre, an Associate Professor of Industrial Design. St. Pierre set the course so that teams of students would interact with non-designers, to interview and gather information that could then become fodder for the creative process. The goal was to devise and create a design outcome that would fit into the life of the co-creator(s). This method, also called co-creation, falls within a subcategory of participatory research methods, in which the designer and the participant create something together with equal creative status.⁵ During my research, I began to notice differences in how the teams approached

^{5.} Sanders, "Collective Creativity," 1.

their research method assignment. Those who incorporated a receptive mindset with their co-creators proved able to create design outcomes that embodied humanistic qualities—those pertaining to a specific person, namely the user, by valuing or dignifying him/her and his/her welfare; whereas those who appeared to lack confidence—that is, a belief in oneself and one's abilities, with an emphasis on self-assurance—seemed to lack rich and insightful information from their research process.

DUSTRIAL S ON A SCALE FROM MY CO-CREATOR

My objectives for the research were to examine the connection between the designer's mindset throughout the research and design process. I was specifically interested in how personal interaction inspired the designer's analytical and form-giving process. By shifting the focus from gathering quantitative information or statistical data to gathering qualitative information—the character or the essence of the data—the students were able to cull personal and meaningful insights directly from people who would benefit from the final design. Through this personal interaction, the findings not only enabled the designers to "problem solve", but also to be personally inspired, and potentially to feel compelled to create specific design outcomes that reached their audience not only on a functional and needs-based level, but also on an emotional level.

I simultaneously investigated other sources and authors who have written extensively about creative process, the mindset and social research. This secondary research reinforced and influenced my analysis of the classroom observations—that designs which are personal and humanistic could potentially be longer lasting and more sustainable that those that are based on secondary research. These results led me to wonder if designers could be encouraged to adopt a practice that values both the humanistic and efficient qualities of the design practice. A designer who is confident, socially tactful, creative and reflective is more capable of successfully

FIGURES 1–3 Examples of the distributed surveys working as both a researcher and a designer than one who is not. Throughout the paper, I will refer to this designer/researcher as the hybrid designer.

In the conclusion, I cross reference other authors who have led me to pinpoint three important aspects that seem to be necessary to a hybrid designer's methodology: they will need to be self-aware, humble and confident; they will have to value other people's creativity; and they will have to learn to rely on their intuition. The outcomes of these methods could potentially bring about human-centred design solutions that are meaningful, personalized and holistic.

influences and other related material

Although participatory design research has been in place since the sixties, the type of co-creation I am discussing was chiefly pioneered by Dr. Sanders.⁶ Her approach to research has been praised and critiqued by many practicing designers, mainly because her method challenges the notion of authority and authorship in the process of design. Even though designers have challenged many roles over the course of time: designer-as-author; designer-as-critic; designer-as-business-consultant; they are facing new and complex challenges today. In short, designers are not the only ones shaping culture, nor are they the only ones "designing". Designers that learn research methods similar to those proposed by Sanders, can become collaborators with non-designers, and can learn to work together as creative equals. This collaborative process will only strengthen the design profession, not compromise it.

Dr. Sanders adamantly states that all people are creative.⁷ Her co-creation methods focus on working with people immediately, at the beginning of a design process. Her model challenges the traditional notion of research in which designers produce prototypes first and then test the almost-final designs on the public. While validation is an essential part of the design process, I would argue that the mindset of the designer in this scenario is troubling. The traditional approach does not see everyone at the same "creative" level. Design research coupled with a human-centred approach assumes that other stakeholders must influence the end result of

11

^{6.} Laurel, Muscular Design, 28.

^{7.} Sanders, "Collective Creativity," 1.

the design. An expert mindset does not necessarily integrate others' views into the final design; and I would argue that this is a detriment to the design practice.

William Gaver is a cognitive psychologist working as a Professor of Design at Goldsmiths College in London. In 1999, Gaver first presented his research tools in *Interactions* magazine, calling them "cultural probes".⁸ The tools highlight subjective and peculiar interactions—probes provoke people to act through various designed tasks and events. The cultural probes were invented as a tool to allow Gaver to research a group of people, but instead of collecting and analyzing the statistics, he asked his subjects to merely play—to collage, to write postcards, to take personal photographs and then to return the results to him. As Gaver says, probes allow one to imagine new possibilities by understanding people intuitively through quirky and personal engagements.⁹

What is particularly interesting about Gaver's research is the value he places on the personal and the subjective. Gaver's reflections on research and design are refreshing: to be as playful and subjective as possible is not a detriment, but an advantage to design and research.

... the danger of seeking to find design opportunities that are clearly relevant for the widest possible range of people is that the results are not very interesting to anybody. As an alternative, it can be useful to focus design efforts around the particular needs and interests of one or a few people. The resulting designs are likely to embody a strong point of view or narrative, which like a powerful story will find widespread appeal despite being focused on a particular time and place.¹⁰

In many ways, Gaver's attitude upholds socially sustainable practices; his work focuses on designs that enhance the human experience. His designs provoke people to think twice about their world, as they often tend to critique or make a statement about their own function. He emphasizes the importance of play while also contradicting notions of efficiency—defined as the ability to do something for a specific purpose or to achieve a desired result without wasted energy or effort. I consider Gaver's methodology a holistic one, since he places equal weight on all aspects of humanity, saying that we should focus on the "wide range of experiences we share as humans—not to restrict ourselves to those aspects of our experience that are relevant for work, or those that can be measured empirically, but to attend as well

12

10. Ibid., 16.

^{8.} William Gaver, Anthony Dunne, and Elena Pacenti, "Cultural Probes," 21–29.

^{9.} William Gaver and others, Subjective Approaches to Design for Everyday Life, 21.

to the individual, the quirky, the speculative and the subjective."¹¹ Continuing, he says that we, as human beings, are always equally engaged in efficiency and play. One is not more important than the other.¹² I appreciate Gaver's take on research as a dignifying approach that embraces the entire spectrum of our human tendencies.

the importance of the research

The research and the findings could not be any timelier; as global issues of consumption and waste have grown, the cycle as it currently exists cannot be sustained for much longer. Long-term solutions for day-to-day dealings must be reconsidered, not only in the interests of the environment but also for the good of society. Now is the perfect opportunity to redefine how designers work and think.

Sanders' view is that designers could help become part of a positive solution. She insists that, in the near future,

Designers will be the creators of scaffolds or infrastructures upon which nondesigners (such as users) can express their creativity. Designers will learn how to access and to understand the dreams of ordinary people in order to create scaffolds on which everyday people will come to experience their dreams.¹³

Sanders' premonitions are not too far off. Silje Kamille Friis recently studied and analysed four companies that worked differently from the traditional service-based practice, and wrote about it in her doctoral dissertation, *Conscious Design Practice as a Strategic Tool.* By observing companies like Humantific and IDEO, Friis suggests that design can be broken into three different areas:

'Design as Product', 'Design as Process', 'Design as Transformation'. 'Design as Product' refers to the traditional way of thinking about design: as an outcome or solution to a particular problem, whether in the form of physical products, communications, interactions or experiences. 'Design as Process' broadens attention from what is designed to how it is designed. Stakeholders are invited onboard the process, contributing with knowledge and experience and learning from the process. Design processes are explicit and the consultancy devotes effort to rethink and rearrange processes to suit a wide variety of design tasks, acting like facilitators of process. 'Design as Transformation' [focuses] on the proactive innovation capability of the organization. Advocates of 'Design as

13

12. Ibid., 13.

^{11.} Ibid., 13.

^{13.} Sanders, "A New Design Space," 1.

Transformation' emphasize the importance of teaching design process skills across the organization and build cross-disciplinary leadership.¹⁴

Friis' order of definitions can run chronologically as well; where 'Design as Product' is the oldest method, and 'Design as Transformation' is the newest. This new field of 'Design as Transformation' is exciting since it incorporates a multitude of cross-disciplinary, complex, humanistic approaches and innovative research methods. One of the methods often used, of course, is participatory design.¹⁵ In the near future, the hybrid designer will be a commodity as he combines two complex disciplines:

Designers will be integral to the creation and exploration of new tools and methods for generative design thinking. Designers in the future will make tools for non-designers and designers to use to express themselves creatively. In the future, the designer may very well become synonymous with the design researcher as more and more design-led approaches to design research are developed.¹⁶

Sanders goes on to say that much of what designers do already can be applied to this new area: "By selection and training, most designers are good at visual thinking, conducting creative processes, finding missing information, and being able to make necessary decisions in the absence of complete information."¹⁷ To imagine a new model considering the needs and the importance of the hybrid designer opens up an essential and unexplored area of research and design pedagogy.

the context of research methods

Many, but not all, graphic design programs in North American universities and colleges favour a traditional approach, meaning that they tend not to integrate crossdisciplinary curricula with other non-designers into their design courses. Katherine McCoy explains one popular model:

14

The early luminaries of graphic design that today's design history books venerate were nearly all self-taught visionaries who relied on their exceptional creative abilities to produce their design solutions—landmarks of originality, power and inventiveness. In fact, this early reliance on the individual's brilliance remains a significant value among many designers today. Through the years, any education policy discussion at a graphic design professional organization

^{14.} Friis, Conscious Design Practice as a Strategic Tool, 4.

^{15.} Sanders, "A New Design Space," 2.

^{16.} Elizabeth Sanders and Pieter Jan Stappers, "Co-creation and the New Landscapes of Design," 11–12.

^{17.} Ibid., 11.

board meeting usually included forceful comments favoring the continuing tradition of the self-trained graphic designer as the best source of innovation and excellence.¹⁸

Considering recent environmental and economic developments, this model of design could be argued to be dying out against the demands of society. People are more involved than ever before with design—they are designing their own shoes, writing their own blogs—countering the traditional "design" system. Designers have to contend with the growing design literacy rate of a society not formally trained in design, but well-versed in it, nevertheless.¹⁹

Even though the aforementioned design method has a place, it is not the only method worthy of design pedagogy and practice. Bryan Lawson insists that the future role of designers cannot afford to disregard the benefits of working with non-designers:

The first role is essentially conservative, centred around the continued dominance of the professional institutions. In such a role designers remain unconnected with either clients or makers. They passively await the client's commission, produce a design and withdraw from the scene. There are already real problems with this approach . . . The opposite to this conservative approach is to actively seek different structural changes in society but which also would result in the end of professionalism as we know it. Such a revolutionary approach would lead the designer to associate directly with user groups.²⁰

Some pedagogical models have started incorporating these societal movements into the practice of design; these are often referred to as participatory design, co-creation or ethnographic design research. While designers are beginning to assimilate these methods, it is a slow process. There are also disparities among the community of designers. Richard Buchanan, a prominent designer and educator, discusses how design became so disjointed:

Design was separated from the intellectual and fine arts, leaving it without an intellectual foundation of its own. Therefore, instead of becoming a unifying discipline directed toward the new productive capabilities and scientific understanding of the modern world, design was diminished in importance and fragmented into the specializations of different types of production, leaving its connection with other human enterprises and bodies of knowledge vague and uncertain.²¹

15

^{18.} McCoy, Education in an Adolescent Profession, 4.

^{19.} Pink, A Whole New Mind, 75.

^{20.} Lawson, How Designers Think, 29.

^{21.} Buchanan, Rhetoric, Humanism and Design, 34.

New methods of design research—where designers work closely with non-designers—could potentially transcend this dilemma. These methods could further promote business models that place importance on customer well-being, overall human welfare and quality of life as positive selling points. The time is ripe for designers to embrace holistic methods throughout their process.

description of research

Throughout this paper, I link creativity to confidence, discussing the benefits of personal engagement through primary research. Confidence, by definition, refers to a feeling of certainty, self-reliance and assurance; while creativity is the ability to design things that show imagination and originality (as well as skill in the craft). I link the importance of confidence with humility in a designer as researcher. I do not see humility as a weakness; it is the act of having or showing a modest estimate of one's own importance.

A researcher who is sufficiently comfortable with himself to focus on his participant may be said to manifest humility. Through personal interactions, one can gather intimate information about someone, getting to know them in all their eccentricities and distinctive behaviours. I refer to personalized design as something that is not only custom-made, but more importantly, deeply related to the person's life and situation. This could mean emotionally-embedded designs, or designs that speak to a specific audience.

When I discuss a design as being either specific, personal or custom-made, it refers to a design that is distinguished from others—one that is definite and tailored to suit a detailed situation or niche. The result is often innovative, meaning it offers a new way or process of doing things. I speak of a holistic or humanistic approach, which simply means including or involving all of something (in this case, all relevant aspects of being human), especially relating to all of somebody's physical, mental and social conditions, not just to one particular aspect of human needs. I refer to this as a humanistic approach, meaning one that concerns itself with human affairs, seeking to promote human welfare. I do not intend to say that other methods of design do not already achieve humanistic tendencies, I merely offer to discuss this research method as one that can lead to design outcomes with humanistic qualities.

The study involved observing the learning process of sixteen third-year design students—equally split between communication and industrial design. Under the direction of St.Pierre the students were told the intentions of the course: they were to work in teams; they were to meet with their co-creators at least twice over the semester; and they were to learn and expand their understanding of working with non-designers. Some students worked with family friends, acquaintances, or strangers through Internet community posting. The teams were to interact personally with their co-creators, to gather information and insight, and then to create a design solution derived from the research. The outcome was to be open-ended it didn't have to fit a specific parameter—either as a graphic or industrial design solution. The students were to choose what was appropriate from the research.

Dr. Sanders herself visited the class for a day. In the workshop she led, she disseminated her co-creation tools and taught the students her method of working with non-designers. Although St. Pierre referred to Sanders' methods over the course of the semester, the curriculum and design of the course was wholly a creation of St. Pierre. In the end, the students were to design their own solutions within their groups, relying less on their co-creators at the end of the project than at the beginning.

My field research was conducted between September 11 and December 15, 2007.²² Over this period, I taped and recorded the discussions held in class as well as outside of class in one-on-one interviews. Sometimes the questions were asked quickly while passing the students in the hallways. Other times, we would meet at a café and discuss at length their ideas surrounding co-creation. I also distributed a series of four surveys over the course; most of the questions were to be ranked on a scale from one to seven. They rated their level of agreement according to this scale. (See appendix, Tables 2–5) By asking the students the same questions over time, I was able to track how their opinions evolved. I oscillated between expert and participatory mindset throughout the course. During the class, I learned alongside the students, trying to be seen and understood as an equal. In my analysis, I assumed a role of expert mindset as I sought to interpret and present the data.

The students varied in age from 19-24 and were well into their specific fields of study. It seemed to me that they had already started to develop an idea of design

^{22.} The class was conducted with sponsorship from an outside telecommunications corporation. The participation of this company was enough to influence the outcomes of the design, as well as the students' behaviours. I will say, however, that the students had minimal contact with the corporation, and I did not think it was detrimental to the findings. I do note at times when this outside body influenced the students; but since its impact seemed minimal, I did not focus on this facet of the class, and feel that it is outside the scope of this research.



from two years of previous experience in the school's design program, as many had said that St. Pierre's class was a new frontier in their conception of design.

The nationality of the students varied: nine students were from North America or Europe; while the other seven were from Japan, Korea, Thailand and China. For half of the students, English was a second or third language. Many had come to Vancouver specifically for the purpose of studying at Emily Carr Institute. It became clear to me that culture did play a role in how these students conducted their ethnographic research and how they worked in teams, as I will discuss later on.

Some of the students were curious to hear what I was observing and expecting to find, while others were delighted to discuss their own notions about the future of participatory design methods. Since the students were to create their own projects based on the interaction with their co-creators, the students often mentioned how they felt like fish out of water simply because some parts of the co-creation method required learning a different procedure. In general, the reaction was positive as the students commented on how refreshing it felt to learn a new technique.

My goal was to interview and observe the students as they progressed through the semester—watching them move from learning the method, to applying it to a real-life situation and finally to completing their projects. I attended almost every class with them, acting as an active participant and observer—positioning myself in the midst of the experience with them. Sometimes the instructor called on me to share my perspective, but I was mostly involved with the students on their level. They were aware that I was researching them, but that didn't stop them from treating me like a peer instead of as a distant observer. This relationship allowed me to progress alongside the students and have access to their genuine revelations and observations of what they were learning as the course evolved. FIGURES 4–6 Photo documentation of the *Interaction Design Class*

19 chapter two

outline of the course

My observations outline the chronological flow of the course *Interaction Design*. For the sake of anonymity, I have changed all names that appear in this paper. The five teams were divided by St. Pierre at the beginning of the course, and they stayed in the same teams throughout the semester. St. Pierre worked hard to divide the members equally between the different design backgrounds as well as personal characteristics. For instance, each group consisted of at least one extrovert and one introvert; one graphic designer and one industrial designer; and so on. I list their names in the order that they appear in my findings: Teams A, B, C, D and E. In my observations, Teams A, B and C were equally creative, confident and socially sensitive to their co-creators. Teams D and E, however, displayed, at times, an approach that appeared to complicate their creative process. Team D focused heavily on practicality, closing creative avenues too quickly, while Team E seemed to dismiss the advice of St. Pierre, preferring to carry out their own desires. As a result, Teams D and E's behaviours displayed expert mindsets.

Because of their personable approach to co-creation, I argue in all likelihood that Teams A, B and C created novel solutions that were both meaningful and specific to their co-creators. The teams' designs demonstrated the strengths of a creative and personal approach throughout the research. Meanwhile, Teams D and E did not devise ideas that were specific to their co-creators' needs. These two teams demonstrated how an authoritative approach could cause significant setbacks, roadblocks and complications in the participatory design process.

St. Pierre structured most of the class time for individual and group meetings in order to discuss ideas with students. She would meet often with the groups individually to discuss concepts and brainstorm. Over the semester, the students were required to:

- 1. Find at least one co-creator.
- 2. Design a workbook and deliver it to the co-creator.²³

- 3. Create a toolkit and prototype.²⁴
- 4. Bring the toolkit to the co-creator's house and work on it together.
- 5. Synthesize the information from the interview and present it in class.

^{23.} In Sanders' model, the workbook acts as a primer for the co-creator. It is merely a tool to engage the co-creator's thoughts and memories in relation to the topic—in this instance, healthcare. It is simply intended to prepare the co-creator for the interview and toolkit session.

^{24.} The toolkits are made up of elements to collage/create with—abstract images, phrases and shapes that do not represent anything specific. Because the images are abstract, it is easy for people to provide their own metaphors or meanings for them. In other words, the co-creators find images that represent an idea, which allows them to tell stories and discuss how the images relate to them. The toolkit is an opportunity for designers to access people's aspirations and dreams.

- 6. Develop three scenarios for potential design solutions arising from the co-creation.
- 7. Choose the best design solution and refine it.
- 8. Prototype, refine, and role-play the design.
- 9. Share the findings with the co-creator.
- 10. Present the final solution in class.

At every turn of the process, the students worked cohesively as team members and as a class, perhaps because they spent several hours a week together, presenting their experiences/findings to one another. Even though each team experienced its own setbacks and successes, they all seemed to spur one another on in an encouraging environment.

the teams

What occurred in class seemed to be an intuitive leap for many of the students. Since design is, oftentimes, an intuitive and investigative process, many students adapted their design process into the research process.²⁵ Design hinges on designers' abilities to dream, conceptualize and imagine how the audience might react to their work. In other words, designers are often intuitively imagining their audience. For other teams, learning to adapt to a new process was not as easy. As I observed each team, I began to notice differences between those students who were more socially skilled and those who were shy. As well, the level of engagement the students had with their co-creators began to be reflected in the depth of information they received from the interviews. This meant that the quality of the research also seemed to relate to the quality of the design concept. For instance, the more socially confident the teams seemed to be, the more they were able to

FIGURES 7–9 Prototyping the toolkits in class



^{25.} Lawson, How Designers Think, 119.

personally relate to their participants. They were genuinely interested in their audience, and they grew to know them more through personal and friendly engagement. These groups were able to cull meaningful stories from the participants that may have compelled the students to implement into their process. On the other hand, the students who limited themselves in the research process were also less likely to create imaginative ideas. It seemed that the less confident they were while researching people, the less likely they were to research effectively, and the more likely it was for the outcome to fail to be connected personally to the co-creator.

From my experience at Ziba, I have learned that successful ethnographic research requires fundamental social skills—the ability to empathize and to draw out personal stories. (William Reese, pers. comm.) Differences between each group's use of these social skills became apparent at various times during the semester.

In my analysis, I refer to Schon's definitions of Expert and Reflective Practitioners. Similarly to Sanders' definitions, Schon describes the Expert Practitioner as one that presumes to know the answers and views his or her research as a method that will validate what he or she already knows. A Reflective Practitioner, however, does not presume to know any answers before conducting research, and enters his engagement with his users as equals, with the understanding that they will both learn something new from the interaction.²⁶

I measured creativity through the students' abilities to use their imagination and experiment freely amidst uncertainty. I watched as the more creative teams "played" with their projects and looked at the solution from many different angles. I assessed confidence by considering their self-assurance and social poise.

In my summary, I will propose that a participatory mindset is more likely to produce a customized, meaningful and holistic design solution. I will draw a correlation between solution and mindset, pointing to positive outcomes from a creative, confident and humanistic approach. Before I share my findings, I will first discuss each team's methodologies and outcomes individually.

team A

It seemed that each member of Team A was personally interested in learning the process of co-creation. Over and over again they said they wanted to "get to know

^{26.} Schon, The Reflective Practitioner, 300.

[their] co-creator." Team A had high expectations—both for the learning process and the outcome of the design to benefit the co-creator. All of the members of this team seemed to take responsibility for their education, and were personally invested in learning how to conduct design research appropriately. One team member responded, when asked if she thought her perception of design would change during the course, "I'm not sure but I hope that it will because that's kinda the idea behind going to school *[sic]*. I wouldn't consider my education a success if my opinions/understanding didn't change dramatically over the span of this program."

At the outset the team members displayed thoughtful approaches to the class, being aware of the challenge ahead of them yet willing to learn new things about the process and themselves. When asked if they thought self-awareness would be important during co-creation, one member pointed out that "awareness is key—I think it is crucial. You need to be aware to make informed decisions. It might be good to be less informed in some aspects, but I think awareness is key."

Another member discussed how he saw the process as a benefit, although he was scared of working with people. He saw that the overall goal of the research was to "bridge us and them," meaning that the process integrated the relationship of the designer with the co-creator. Continuing, he says, "Originally, you wouldn't even think about doing something with someone else and being able to relate it for real to someone; as opposed to getting a bunch of information from the Internet, and then creating something from that. [Prior to learning this process] I would have read about it or looked on the Internet—just about anything instead of going straight to the source. I don't know why. I think I would have been too scared. Interacting with people can be troublesome, they don't give you the facts straight up, they take ambiguous sides. It's hard."

Team A's focus was on caregiving. They started working with a man named Chris,²⁷ who was diagnosed with multiple sclerosis. Chris was confined to a wheelchair and had lost some of his cognitive and mental abilities. Through the team's engagement with Chris, they met several times with his caregiver, Steven. By the midpoint of the semester, Team A ended up with two co-creators: Chris and Steven. Meetings with both men happened frequently—probably the most frequently of any group—since they had many complications and design parameters to work around. Perhaps because of the number of times that they visited Steven, this team formed a personal relationship with both men, but mostly with Steven.

^{27.} All names have been changed for anonymity.

Team A realized early on that they would have to be creative in designing the workbook, since Chris's cognitive disabilities would interfere with complete understanding of the questions, let alone with writing down answers. Even the simple "primer" became a massive design hurdle. Team A wanted to learn about Chris's ability to communicate his needs and wants. They wanted to ask him if he felt understood when he communicated. By giving him two 'bracelets', one for each arm, they enabled him to easily pull a tab from the left arm (if he felt misunderstood) and one from the right arm (if he felt understood). The team would then count the remaining tabs on the bracelets to assess whether his interactions were mostly positive or negative. By devising a simple system that suited Chris's abilities and required only limited cognitive skills, the workbook alone was a design feat. (See figures 10–12)



After the workbook sessions, Team A realized they needed to focus more attention on the caregiver, since Chris was not able to clearly articulate or convey his thoughts. More meetings with the caregiver helped the team to devise a few successful scenarios. They wanted to design something that would help Steven understand Chris better. Team A set out to devise a system that would transmit emotional readings through biofeedback between the caregiver and the client.

At the end, Team A presented *Sensimo*, a device that reads emotions and displays them through changing colours. Figure 13 shows how the device would look: the caregiver and the client would each wear a bracelet. (See appendix, Table 6) Through these two bracelets different colours that coincide with an emotion would be sent and displayed. The device offered a one-way conversation between Chris, the sender, and Steven, the receiver. The sender's emotions would be discreetly displayed on the receiver's device. Team A continually said that they did not want Chris to feel like a science project—they were intently interested in both of their coFIGURE 10 Team A making prototypes

FIGURE 11 Student demonstrating a paper prototype

FIGURE 12 The final wristband for Chris creators' health and well-being. One of the members said during class studio time, "The primary motivation is to enable Steven to do a better job—or have a better relationship. It's about communication and relationship—so it's more than just communication. It's to feel a connection, [I want] to be clear that [we aren't just] finding out if he's hungry or not."

By the end, Team A team had created something very personal—which was a criterion they had prioritized throughout the course. They consistently agreed (through surveys) that empathy was an important part of the process. One of the members wrote, "I feel I've gained insight to the emotional state of the co-creators that I couldn't have gotten otherwise and will hopefully be able to generate more personal and empathetic solutions. I could probably have gotten some idea of the emotions surrounding the relationship but it would have been mostly based on my assumptions."

Teams A's ability to think imaginatively and confidently about their process was of utmost importance. Not only did they work hard; but they also worked as equals. It is one thing to be able to create something that is beautiful. It is yet another to create something that is appropriate, imaginative and enjoyable for someone else. I would even argue that by working intimately with Chris and Steven, Team A could possibly have improved the quality of their relationship because of this simple device. The group had a good mixture of imagination, confidence and creative ability (and the dedication to complete and succeed at the assignment).

FIGURE 13 Sensimo: Team A's final design



Of all the groups, Team A's creative process skills were demonstrated most often over the course of the semester—they were highly devoted to sketching, brainstorming, and role-playing their co-creators' situations. Ultimately, they designed a device that emphasized relationship instead of efficiency. Team A's solution significantly underscores Gaver's point about applying a personal and subjective design method. Even though the team only worked with two co-creators, their solution, *Sensimo*, could easily suit a larger group of people with various needs.

team B

In their toolkit session, Team B discovered that Kathy, their co-creator, had recently received her certificate as a nutritionist. Throughout the course, they continually demonstrated a humanistic approach to the design research method as they engaged and interacted with Kathy in ways that were both fun and playful, but that also resulted in insightful and rich information. At the midway point when the teams were to present some scenarios from the information they had gathered, Team B truly outdid themselves. They presented extremely creative scenarios, from a diet device that would display nutritional content just by photographing the food, to a T-shirt that showed the action of the digestive tract after each meal.

By the end of the design process this team focused on a product that would fit into their co-creator's life as a new business tool. They accordingly proposed a software FIGURE 14 Elsa: Team B's final design



application that would allow Kathy to communicate with her clients on a personalized basis through a software application. The application would be tailored to each of her clients and their specific nutritional needs. (See appendix, Table 7)

This group remained adamant that their goal was to meet and suit the needs of their co-creator. It was encouraging to see to what extent they maintained this position in their work. They, too, continued their connection with their co-creator almost as frequently as Team A—even role playing a scenario in public with her.

When asked if the interactions with their co-creator affected the creative process, one member wrote, "Kathy really helped with a general direction for the project, and also opened up the way for a new course of action." Another member said that his creative process was positively influenced by the co-creation: "I think it allows me to really experience who the user is—and therefore become more connected with the design process." Whether co-creation helped to generate new ideas, he said, "I absolutely agree, with a co-creator it's easier to see scenario situations because you can visualize real people."

team C

Although they seemed shy, Team C proved socially adept over the course, which was not initially apparent. They extensively researched ways of communicating with their co-creator, Amanda, who had only eight percent vision. The workbook consisted of instructions printed in Braille and a recording device that Amanda could speak into, which made completion of the workbook tasks easy for her.

When Team C approached this project, they, too, commented on the personal understanding and relationship with their co-creator. The team opened up to Amanda, remarking repeatedly that visually impaired people are more independent than they had previously thought.

27

After the workbook, Team C devised the toolkit to incorporate textures and stickers instead of visuals. Amanda quickly adapted and used the textured stickers as metaphor to tell her stories. For instance, a sticker (instead of an image) would represent an emotion or experience. Amanda would pick a certain texture, perhaps something rough like sandpaper that could be used to describe her day as being difficult or bumpy. A glossy heart sticker could conjure up ideas of hope, love,



or something that was smooth or easy. What Team C learned from this interaction was not what they were expecting. In fact, this was a high point for them— Amanda presented herself as very "normal"; she was able to do many things on her own, even without the guide dog. After this meeting, Team C realized they were approaching Amanda with preconceived notions. They once commented in class that Amanda was surprisingly capable of living independently. By the end, this team had a very different view of the blind community, making fewer assuming comments. Team C challenged their own assumptions to prevent themselves from hindering the creative process.

The most successful of their various scenarios turned out to be a signage system that would be placed around town as a personal posting reference for the visually impaired. Amanda had frequently commented how she could not walk around at night because of her difficulty seeing, even with her guide dog. Despite her limited vision, she still relied heavily on it during the daytime. As a result, Amanda would often have to plan her day so that she was home by sundown. Team C referred to their idea as a "Hansel and Gretel" signage system—referencing the fairy-tale where the two children, Hansel and Gretel, leave a trail of bread crumbs behind them in order to find their way home again. In the same vein, the signage system would allow for the visually impaired to post personal notes on the signposts. These could consist of various personal or community reminders concerning a specific neighbourhood or directions for themselves to find their way home. (See FIGURE 15 Team C's workbook in Braille

FIGURES 16 AND 17 Various textures and stickers for Team C's toolkit session

28

appendix, Table 8)

Even though the signpost became their final design product, they went through several iterations. At one point they wanted to take away the posting system and include a generic city map instead. I thought this was a slight derailment from the original purpose, as the posting system was poignantly effective in empowering the visually impaired community to become more independent. Team C even went



as far as to prototype a model that disregarded the posting system. It resembled the sort of urban map one might find in any city. The more the posting system incorporated everyone's needs, the less meaningful and powerful it seemed. Other students commented on how mundane the post looked without the personalization aspect. St. Pierre nudged the students to consider what it meant to design something that empowered those who were generally disregarded and overlooked. The entire class encouraged them to remember their co-creator, and Team C eventually went back to their original idea.

Like Team B, Team C tested a prototype in public with their co-creator. Amanda enjoyed the interaction and had helpful tips to improve the design, which Team C did implement. In the end, when asked if co-creation was a generative tool for her thought process, one member agreed that the experience positively affected the outcome, exclaiming, "because we've learned more details about her specific issues! Maybe some only apply to her but some do apply to others. Then we also learned the cause and effect according to her experience. I think our design should be specific to her."

The same member also said that a designer should be a "people person", adding, however, that "It doesn't really matter as long as they are adaptable ... Being able to talk to strangers about random things and make them comfortable is a very important skill for a designer who wants to work with participatory design research methods." She also had very insightful comments about the learning outcomes of this course. In one of the last questions of my survey, she wrote about what makes a good designer: "someone who can turn simple things into meaningful objects." In her opinion, the point of participatory design was "to not make a 'crap' product, but to make something that actually works, something that is useful."

FIGURE 18 Team C presenting their finished toolkit to class

FIGURE 19 AND 20 Team C prototyping their ideas with the rest of the class



Meanwhile, another member of the group agreed that the information from the toolkit session helped him generate new ideas that he never would have thought of before this process. He added, "Amanda gave us specific problems and helped us pinpoint the design to a certain extent." He also responded that he felt very strongly that co-creation was a worthwhile experience. He further agreed that the information gathered could positively affect the creative process saying, "All the problems for the design process are found from the co-creator's words."

When asked if the relationship affected the result, the last member said, "Yes. We had a good time with Amanda. We felt comfortable contacting her and enjoyed chatting with her." I asked what she thought the point of participatory design was, she responded, "It's more humanistic, so it's more about the person, not the numbers or the data. Also, it's more personal and specific." I asked her if a designer had to be a 'people person'. She replied, "Yes, because you're designing for people! You don't have to be extroverted or a social butterfly, but you have to care about others. Be passionate about your work and envision that the product will help people in a big way. Design is for people."

team D

The most striking characteristic about Team D was the unbalanced dynamic of the group. Even though there were four individuals, they did not work equally. One member in particular seemed to control most of the decisions. This dominant perFIGURE 21 Braille Track: Team C's final design sonality kept the members focused on practicality, feasibility and budgets, which quickly derailed the creative thinking.

The same student also had a specific agenda, which often enough would contradict the intentions of the course. When asked why she decided to take this class, the response was apathetic: "I was moved up to third year after the first week of school and there weren't many classes I could get into. The head of design recommended this class because I have a strong background in sociology and psychology." I also asked if she thought she'd get along with her co-creators, to which she responded, "Does it really matter whether I like them or not? I think it comes down to whether we will be able to get some good information or not." Over time, this mindset became alarming, as I watched it become a hindrance to the entire group.

Frequently this group discussed how "everything has already been designed in the healthcare world." In order for this group to feel that their idea was worthwhile, it had to appeal to as many people as possible. Somehow they did not see the importance of making something specific for one co-creator. At times the team appeared in danger of drowning in their own limits.

I wondered if their short-sighted approach prevented them from getting to the heart of the matter—by getting stuck in the details, by trying to meet as many needs as possible and by assuming that the toolkit session was not an important part of the process. They hardly ever talked about specific life stories or examples they could have gathered from the toolkit session. The dominant student commented, "I somewhat agree that our group can now see how important aspects of healthcare may be to some people, so it gave us an idea what we should focus on. But I don't think it was [a] revolutionary thought." This statement reflected her mindset in general: resigned to the process, but pessimistic about its effectiveness.

FIGURES 22 AND 23 Health Avenue: Team D's final design



31

After many iterations and changes, Team D presented a kiosk called *Health Avenue*. In their own words, "*Health Avenue* is an interactive user experience that allows people to build their Healthcare Team based on personal preferences and locate services in their neighbourhood. It can be found within the community or accessed through the Internet." While it was a thoughtful design, such a system was not tailored to one individual. (Refer to appendix, Tables 9.1–2)

One of the quietest members of Team D who rarely shared in class, had expressed views in written surveys that reinforced my suspicions. She wrote, "although our group has gathered a lot of information from our co-creators, I keep feeling that we are not really focusing on specific ideas from our co-creator for brainstorming." She then explained how they formulated their final idea: "it was when our group went back to think more about our co-creators. We came back to focus on them and the results we got from the toolkit, instead of going everywhere." The same student said how she could see co-creation as an essential tool for the design process, that it could help her to create something new and different.

Another team member agreed with her, saying, "Gathering only information and experiences from others allows you to look at things from a different angle and consequently come up with new/different ideas. Some of them you may have come up with on your own and others, no... it's hard to say; but I absolutely agree that it is helpful and valuable."

The biggest setback for this group was the approach to the design process. If the group had worked equally, valuing the participatory research interaction with their co-creators, they could have been more confident about the design outcome. They also could have learned to see the value of pleasing a smaller number of people, speaking to their specific needs. Instead, the group placed value on appealing to as many people as possible, which diluted the importance and meaningfulness of their design solution.

32

team E

Team E seemed to be almost the exact opposite to Teams A, B and C. Whenever the instructor asked them to do something in a particular way, they would do it differently. For instance, the team split up to interview each of their own co-creators individually. As with Team D, this team had unbalanced dynamics, with one dominant member often speaking on behalf of the other group members. Even when they met as a group with the instructor, it was easy to see that a lot of the decisions made in this group resulted from the influence of one student.

When initially polled about why he took this class, he replied, "I thought we were going to be making devices for [the outside company]." After this comment, I started to notice how his notions of design clashed with those of the instructor, often resulting in lengthy debates. From my perspective, he wanted to design a gadget that was "cool," whereas the structure of the classroom demanded that he think deeply about user scenarios. After St. Pierre began to see what was happening in the group, she put more pressure on the other members to contribute to the design process. While this tactic helped, it did not radically change the outcome of the design.

At the midpoint presentation, when the groups showed their three scenarios, I began to see a link between this group and Team D. Both groups presented ideas that did not embody the personality of their co-creators. It's as if they didn't know how to integrate the information, or that they didn't get enough information from the interaction in the first place. At this point, Team E was visibly showing signs of confusion, lack of interest and inflexibility.

As a result, Team E's solution was both impersonal and outdated. St. Pierre bristled when the dominant student said the device would act as a surrogate friend for their co-creator who was too busy to have a social life. She responded, "We are too smart to think that a device can replace human beings." Despite her continued debates with this group, they kept working on the same prototype. At one point I could tell that St. Pierre was frustrated with them, "I've seen thousands of these [objects] before. They're called blobjects." She asked them to go back to the notes from their toolkit sessions to make sure that the design resonated with the life of the co-creator. To no avail: the group showed up the next day with the same device.

In the end, Team E created *MeNu* ("Me and You"), a personal health device that would monitor one's health statistics and transmit the information to a selected friend. As a result the device would rely on the power of social accountability as a tool for improving the person's quality of life. (See appendix, Tables 10.1–2)

Although they were skilled formgivers, they seemed to lack the imagination and reflection needed for this method. The successful groups were able to interlace the co-creator's personal information into the design brief, but Team E did not.



In the written surveys, the dominant student of Team E strongly disagreed that he would like to try co-creation again. The other members, however, both strongly agreed that co-creation was an important part of the design process. One member said that the knowledge gained from the co-creator was helpful. She wrote, "the brainstorming process is very useful to improve my concept. Our group is still thinking and narrowing down our broad ideas... the life of the co-creator gives us a chance to think [about] more ideas." She strongly agreed that co-creation was an important part of the design process, but also stated that she felt neutral about trying co-creation again.

FIGURE 24 AND 25 Team E's prototype and sketches

FIGURE 26 MeNu: Team E's final design

overview

Over the duration of the course, I observed the teams along the following two spectrums: 1) their mindset (along a spectrum of expert to participatory mindset); and 2) their method (along a spectrum of valuing to resisting the co-creator during the design process). At first, I wanted to investigate empathy between the designer and the co-creator, to see if the designer felt compelled to create something because of a connection with the co-creator. What developed, instead, was a realization that the mindset, confidence and approach of the designer to research is in fact more important when working with a co-creator.

34 The students revealed to me the two most important qualities of a successful hybrid designer: a participatory mindset (see figure 27); and confidence—in one's own capabilities and in the method. In other words, the hybrid designer must maintain a strong sense of self in order to appreciate his co-creator(s), to invest in them, and to positively implement their feedback. As well, the hybrid designer must learn to see his co-creator as creatively equal, in order to draw out the best possible insights. Otherwise, an insecure designer could easily feel threatened by the method of co-creation, resist the process, and rely on his own expert—and limited—understanding. Figure 27 charts the teams according to their design methods and personal mindsets. (For a detailed overview of my analysis, see Table 1 in the appendix) For instance, Team A demonstrated confidence with a participatory mindset, valuing their co-creator in their design process. Conversely, Teams D and E seemed uncomfortable with the research method, and as a result held an expert mindset during the creative process. The teams in the upper right corner successfully tailored the designs to suit their co-creators. Meanwhile, the teams on the bottom left corner, although they produced well-crafted design solutions, were unable to create designs that were either innovative or uniquely suited to their audience.



I studied various articles that related to the mindset of researchers—analyzing how thought process affects creativity and confidence. By relaying what I gathered from the research, and backing up my findings with other resources, I will discuss how these methods can potentially improve the field and practice of design.

FIGURE 27 Graph representing each mindset over their approach to co-creation

35

36 chapter three
the characteristics of a hybrid designer

The observations I discuss in this paper can be beneficial for both industrial and graphic designers, as they deal with a productive mindset during the research process. By shifting the focus during research onto the co-creator's life and personality, the designer can garner meaningful insights that could indeed relate to a particular group of people. For the hybrid designer, the two most important qualities that should be maintained are a participatory mindset and creative confidence.

Various outside sources informed my analysis, and I often presented and discussed the findings of the class with outside professionals such as Dr. Elizabeth B.-N. Sanders; Bill Moggridge, the co-founder of IDEO; Dr. William Reese, the Consumer Insights and Trends Director at Ziba; Dr. Abby Margolis, a Research Analyst at Ziba; Ashley Deal, an Analyst at Carnegie Mellon University; and Dr. GK VanPatter, the co-founder of NextD and Humantific.

With support from these sources, I will suggest three qualities that are central to the formation of a hybrid designer: 1) nurturing an open, humble, yet confident mindset; 2) maintaining a positive and imaginative approach to research and design; and 3) relying on intuition during research in order to interpret the co-creator's needs and wishes appropriately during the design process.

the mindset

As was witnessed in the class, Teams E and D were still gifted in the act of formgiving, meaning that what they created was indisputably designed with good intentions in terms of form, but not necessarily appropriate. These two teams significantly deflected the importance of the research method and chose to create what they alone deemed to be relevant as a design solution. From my observations, I have reported that the outcome was noticeably generic and impersonal. In

37 light of this, I am led to believe that a robust social method incorporating fundamental skills of sensitivity, confidence and receptivity could positively influence the relationship between design and research. Knowing that research is an important aspect of the design process could result in beautiful and deeply meaningful design outcomes. Researchers will tell you that their mindset and approach can greatly affect their findings. They base their ability as researchers on their self-awareness—as if the body and mind were a finely tuned instrument—reading others' emotions and constantly comparing them to one's own. (William Reese, pers. comm.) Daniel Goleman, author of *Emotional Intelligence*, writes, "Some psychoanalysts call it the 'observing ego,' the capacity of self-awareness that allows the analyst to monitor his own reactions to what the patient is saying, and which the process of free association nurtures in the patient."²⁸ The researcher delicately performs social observation while being aware of his own "baggage" that may influence his findings.

Confidence and humility also play a large role in research in a process similar to method acting. The researcher allows the participant to be the "centre" and empathizes with him. (Abby Margolis, pers. comm.) Through this method, the researcher gains an intuitive and experiential kind of information. This is how the body and subtle processes of mind work as a tool for research. Generally speaking, industrial and graphic designers implement a variation of this process through role playing or prototyping near the completion of a project. By empathizing with the co-creator during research, the designer can benefit from emotional insight throughout the entire creative process—from the beginning of the project to the end.

creativity

It is important to foster personal and emotional confidence since they are necessary for creative decisions. Don Norman makes a telling distinction between confidence and creativity, and offers corroboration for my experience:

Positive emotions are as important as negative ones—positive emotions are critical to learning, curiosity, and creative thought....Happy people are more effective in finding alternative solutions, and as a result, are tolerant of minor difficulties.²⁹

38 The students who showed more confidence were indeed more creative. They were also able to tolerate minor difficulties. Guy Claxton, author of *Hare Brain Tortoise Mind*, underscores Norman's point by citing the corollary, a lack of confidence:

^{28.} Goleman, Emotional Intelligence, 47.

^{29.} Norman, Emotional Design, 20.

There is a wealth of evidence to confirm the common impression that when people feel threatened, pressurised, judged or stressed, they tend to revert to ways of thinking that are more clear-cut, more tried and tested and more conventional: in a word, less creative.³⁰

The disparities between the Teams A and E in terms of their confidence and creativity were clearly obvious. If we consider how this knowledge might improve learning, it could help instructors encourage and even teach students how to be creative researchers/designers. Integrating confidence-enhancing methods into design pedagogy, instructors can positively change the dynamics of the class, the curriculum, and the design process. Similarly, companies could look into improving their employees' confidence and satisfaction at work.

A creative and confident designer also conducts research differently, being more capable of gathering personal information because of strong social skills. Norman suggests that a positive attitude (which aids creativity) is needed in order to help the researcher focus on the person she is researching:

Positive affect arouses curiosity, engages creativity, and makes the brain into an effective learning organism. With positive affect, you are more likely to see the forest than the trees, to prefer the big picture and not to concentrate upon details. On the other hand, when you are sad or anxious, feeling negative affect, you are more likely to see the trees before the forest, the details before the big picture.³¹

Not only does a healthy mindset greatly influence the research findings; it also improves the creative process. The confident designers were better equipped to interpret and intuit the needs of their co-creators. In other words, the interviews filled in holes that quantitative research tends to overlook, creating connections and revealing a more nuanced context.

At times, it seemed that Teams E and D were focused on details of the design instead of the big picture, which signaled to me that they perhaps struggled to feel confident about the course. For whatever reason, they were not able to rise above the details; whereas Teams A, B and C could, by taking into account their co-creators' contexts and creatively interpreting the results.

³⁹

^{30.} Claxton, The Hare Brain Tortoise Mind, 76.

^{31.} Norman, Emotional Design, 26.

intuition

Intuition is arguably one of the most important tools for a designer. I refer to intuition as the state of being aware of, or knowing something, without the use of rational processes. It's almost as if instinct kicks in without needing actual evidence, but one is still able to gather immediate knowledge of something. Being able to decode one's intuition is a skill that designers can learn. Malcolm Gladwell, author of *Blink*, makes a case for intuition, saying that not only is the ability to "listen to your gut" important but that a person can train himself to understand and read his "gut." This ability results in better decision making, since the intuition is greatly influenced by qualitative, not quantitative circumstances.³² The "gut" can thus be viewed as a qualitative research tool, which is what makes co-creation so compelling, for graphic and industrial designers alike. It could become an increasingly important method for the design process, since it enables designers to use their intuition for making holistic and human-centred decisions.

Designers often report sensing and intuiting who their client is. In fact, many designers will say that meeting the client is just as important as the design brief. This sense of *knowing*—intuiting—grows stronger through prolonged and intentional personal interaction. The more time the designer spends with her co-creator, the more she can intuitively project the person's likes, dislikes, etc. Simply put, intuition becomes strengthened through personal interaction (such as co-creation).

As Schon says, a competent practitioner is "dependent on tacit recognitions, judgments and skilful performances."³³ Most designers are able to quickly recognize the skill of another designer; they've built up sensitivities to distinguish what is or isn't a well-crafted object. Likewise, building up a skill of empathizing with others could perhaps develop into an implicit trait, one that doesn't require conscious thought or much effort.

Schon reinforces the importance of intuition, an attribute he calls knowing-inpractice:

40 pract

When a practitioner reflects in and on his practice, the possible objects of his reflection are as varied as the kinds of phenomena before him and the systems of knowing-in-practice which he brings to them. He may reflect on the tacit norms and appreciations which underlie a judgment, or on the strategies and theories implicit in a pattern of behavior. He may reflect on the feeling for a

^{32.} Gladwell, Blink, 183.

^{33.} Schon, The Reflective Practitioner, 50.

situation which has led him to adopt a particular course of action, on the way in which he has framed the problem he is trying to solve, or on the role he has constructed for himself within a larger institutional context.³⁴

Just as personal interaction feeds intuition, storytelling can also offer an expanded viewpoint. The mere act of co-creation seems to open up ways for the designer to empathize and get to know the co-creator on a subtly personal level.

When the co-creator talks about himself during the toolkit sessions, the designer is able to also gather a collage of personal stories. These stories can build connections emotionally for the listener: stories can reveal intentions behind an action; they can reveal patterns that would otherwise remain invisible; they can explain motivations; they can deepen meaning through sentiment or memory; and can allow one to make connections that relate to a specific context. This is the part of storytelling that reveals much more about what is happening behind the scenes, which is helpful and very insightful for a designer. In other words, stories can also help the designer to empathize, which is another method of building intuition.³⁵

Pink underscores the importance of story:

When facts become so widely available and instantly accessible, each one becomes less valuable. What begins to matter more is the ability to place these facts in context and to deliver them with emotional impact And that is the essence of the aptitude of story—context enriched by emotion.³⁶

The students who were intent on getting to know their co-creators were able to extract personal stories from the toolkit session. They were able to make connections and to observe how their co-creator reasoned and made decisions. Working with co-creators potentially widens the variety and quality of material upon which the designer can reflect. Through this strengthened intuition and empathy, the designer will have more variables to work with during the process. After all, design is about imagining the possibilities, going beyond the obvious and creating new connections from what *is* to what *could be*.

41

Perhaps the strongest point about working with non-designers is found in a recent article from *Design Studies*. The authors underscore how intuition strengthens research:

^{34.} Schon, The Reflective Practitioner, 62.

^{35.} Pink, Whole New Mind, 168.

^{36.} Ibid., 168.

Traditionally, and often successfully, graphic designers have relied on their own intuition to generate design solutions. However, insights culled from observations themselves provide a powerful source of inspiration that often leads to stronger design thinking. These solutions are more appropriate and tailored for individuals for whom the object, service or environment is designed. In classic graphic design professions, research typically relies on a combination of the client's point of view, aesthetic research, and the graphic designer's gut impression and personal design style. However, graphic designers working in an environment that advocates human-centered design need to invest more time developing their design through in-the-field observation of people relevant to the project topic. Simply put, intuition, coupled with insight, gets designers appropriately further in the design process, and gets them there faster.³⁷

^{37.} Roshi Givechi, Ian Groulx and Marc Woollard, Impact, 308.

43 chapter four

making meaning

As Gaver pointed out earlier, personal design solutions that are derived from creative research tools (i.e., cultural probes) will resonate deeply with a group of people.³⁸ I am not saying that design must cater only to individuals. I am saying that design solutions can become specific to a smaller group of people, who will find these solutions deeply meaningful.

Although the economic ramifications of this practice are beyond the scope of my paper, large-scale and small-scale companies are already employing a variety of participatory research methods. For example, Friis' dissertation discusses four leading companies already involved in participatory research methods as a part of their typical design practice. These companies, and others like them, are not typically applying these methods to make customized designs for one person. With the help of recruiting agencies, they choose co-creators uniquely suited to their research, extrapolating results that apply to a larger group of people with similar needs.

In light of our over-consumption woes, it is imperative that we continue exploring alternatives to the mass-consumption model, much like the D.I.Y. movement. McCoy suggests that, "We seem to be witnessing the end of an era of mass communications: narrowcasting instead of broadcasting, subcultures instead of mass culture, and tailored products instead of mass production."³⁹ The time is ripe to create personalized and sustainable design solutions.

Sanders' participatory design method represents one model that counters the mass-customization trend. As was observed in the class, Teams A, B and C created design solutions that resonated personally with their co-creators and could translate further to a related group of people. One co-creator's story was enough to generate insightful and rich information, which resulted in innovative and meaningful design solutions—not just for one or two people, but for a specific group.

44

As well, Gaver's alternative approach is reinforced through Daniel Pink's prophecy that the world is becoming more and more interested in holistic approaches:

The last few decades have belonged to a certain kind of person with a certain kind of mind—computer programmers who could crank code, lawyers who

^{38.} William Gaver and others, *Subjective Approaches to Design for Everyday Life*, 16.

^{39.} McCoy, Graphic Design in a Multicultural World, 201.

could craft contracts, MBAs who could crunch numbers. But the keys to the kingdom are changing hands. The future belongs to a very different kind of person with a very different kind of mind—creators and empathizers, pattern recognizers, and meaning makers. These people [are] artists, inventors, designers, storytellers, caregivers, consolers, big picture thinkers. . . . We are moving from an economy and a society built on the logical, linear, computer-like capabilities of the Information Age to an economy and a society built on the inventive, empathic, big-picture capabilities of what's rising in its place, the Conceptual Age.⁴⁰

The hybrid designer will become a key player in conducting design and business, and an important investment for businesses interested in building a relationship with their customers.

emotional durability

Human-centred design research can also be considered to be a sustainable method—socially and environmentally. When the designer becomes engaged in making quality objects that are meaningful to the purchaser, he is also affirming human dignity.⁴¹ Norman argues here that people do not throw away something that they love, especially if it resonates on a deeper, more meaningful level. The longer a design sustains interest and retains meaning, the harder it is for the consumer to get rid of it. The items that are particularly meaningful to us, Norman argues, are in fact the ones that "we construct ourselves."⁴²

By constructing "meaning" together, other positive outcomes could ensue, not just concerning the value of the design, but the value of the person and his relationship to the design. A recent book by Nathan Chapman, entitled *Emotionally Durable Design*, also points to the importance of personal connection to designed objects. Chapman warns that even emotionally meaningful designs have a lifespan, governed in this case by the relationship between the object and the user.⁴³ He continues, "Waste, therefore, is a symptom of expired empathy, a kind of failed relationship that leads to the dumping of one by the other."⁴⁴ It is the failed relationship that designers must strive to avoid. I do not presume that participatory research is the answer to the world's sustainability issues, but it is a positive start and a possible method that begs further exploration.

^{40.} Pink, A Whole New Mind, 1-2.

^{41.} Buchanan, Human Dignity and Human Rights, 303.

^{42.} Norman, Emotional Design, 48.

^{43.} Chapman, Emotionally Durable Design, 51.

^{44.} Ibid., 51.

subjectivity

Ultimately, the designer has to walk the line of incorporating the feedback from the co-creator and making educated decisions based upon her own expertise. I argue against the possible extremes of this design research. If the designer becomes too diplomatic and tries to please everyone, the design could lose clarity of intent, thereby serving nobody.

I do not advocate that the designer relinquish all control and decision-making necessary for the design process. Designers should be aware that they are central to the research, and should not dismiss their own thoughts completely, as to make the design process too democratic:

Designing for subjectivity cuts two ways. On the one hand, it means recognising and respecting that 'users' have desires, obsessions, passions and fears that provide a valuable basis for design even if they are generally dismissed by research and industry... it means recognising that we as researchers and practitioners also have our own personal perceptions, beliefs, preferences and intrigues that we can bring to bear in designing new technologies.⁴⁵

My findings underscore the importance of the designer's role as equal to that of the co-creator. It is this equal relationship that informs the design—not a distant relationship but a highly engaged and personalized investment for the designer and the co-creator. What is crucial to remember is that participatory research methods don't simply address form and function, but could also primarily underscore design for meaning and value.

This shift from quantitative to qualitative research affirms my own inclincations regarding the specialized role of graphic designers. Since graphic designers are naturally suited to communicating, they would certainly be successful as hybrid designers, by translating and relaying their observations clearly and concisely. They would also work well with other researchers to develop research plans: to help the

46

researcher conduct the personal interviews; to create compelling research tools such as probes, workbooks and toolkits; to visually parse and relay the gathered information at the end of the process; and to implement design solutions from the research. The designer would also be well-suited for bridging gaps in research findings that have to transfer from one discipline to another: by understanding the needs of his fellow designers and relating to the work of his fellow researchers.

^{45.} William Gaver and others, *Subjective Approaches to Design for Everyday Life*, 1.

When I was at Ziba, I designed surveys that the researchers used during the interviews. These surveys (or tools) were intended to encourage discussion, stimulate interest and inspire engagement between the researcher and their participant. Many co-workers insisted that the tools improved the quality of the research.

There are also many circumstances where these participatory research methods could strengthen the graphic designer's ability to communicate clearly and specifically to his audience. Through personal interaction, the designer could grow to know his audience's dreams and desires, which is an important element for many graphic design solutions. For instance, branding or identity campaigns could speak directly to the clients' customers on a personal and humanistic level. Of course, it is one thing to understand and know the audience's deepest dreams and desires. It is still another to translate these ideas into a communication piece that speaks to them effectively. There is something in this process that must remain a mystery, but intuition and playfulness are certainly important tools along the way.

conclusion

Qualitative research and subjective decision-making raises questions about how to promote alternative methods in design and research. If designers are to know how to perform research, they will need to learn the skills necessary for gathering insightful and richly contextual information.

Both industrial and graphic designers would benefit from working as hybrid designers: by valuing their intuition; by engaging with their audience; and by implementing design outcomes that speak to all parts of being human—the irrational and rational. Designers should be encouraged to adopt a human-centred practice and to value characteristics of humanity over mere functionality. For instance, designers could engage in playful and absurd design outcomes (similar to Gaver's work) where design becomes more of an art form by critiquing its own function.

These design outcomes, although never intended to be mass-produced, can be seen as stepping stones to more effective design outcomes. Maybe over time, these playful designs could be seen as equally important in peoples' lives, allowing them to equally engage in play and efficient function.

As designers begin to work intimately with their audience, they will need to perfect their social skills. These skills that stem from a healthy mindset and approach to research should be a professional priority. Getting to know the co-creator should be stressed as an essential element of participatory design, since the research will not only be about finding problems to solve, but building necessary social awareness.

Learning when, where and how to engage in participatory research methods remains yet to be fully investigated. Despite this gap, we know that holistic methods and procedures that value product longevity and human dignity should be important for all designers. Norman nicely summarizes my intended desires for this holistic practice:

The trick is to make objects that degrade gracefully, growing old along with their owners in a personal and pleasurable manner. This kind of personalization carries huge emotional significance, enriching our lives. This is a far cry from the mass customization that allows a consumer to choose one of a fixed set of alternatives, but has little or no real personal relevance, little or no emotional value. Emotional value—now that is a worthy goal of design.⁴⁶

^{46.} Norman, Emotional Design, 221.

49 bibliography

- Abrams, Janet. Long Lake III: Toys Versus Tools. In If/Then: Play: Emerging Forms, Emerging Behaviors, edited by Janet Abrams, 248–257. Ede: Veenman Drukkers. 1999.
- D'Ammasso Tarbox, Judy. Activity Theory: A Model for Design Research. In Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader, edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 73–80. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Bennett, Audrey. *The Rise of Research in Graphic Design*. In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 14–25. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Bernard, Nancy. *Reality Branding: Addressing Real Concerns and Real Needs*. In *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 87–90. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Beucker, Nicolas. "Research Skills As Basis For Industrial Collaboration In Design Education." Paper presented at the International Engineering and Product Design Education Conference, Delft, The Netherlands, September 2–3, 2004.
- Blyth, Mathilda. *Games Children Play: Iona Opie*. In *If/Then: Play: Emerging Forms, Emerging Behaviors*, edited by Janet Abrams, 124–131. Ede: Veenman Drukkers. 1999.
- Booth, Wayne C., Gregory G. Colomb, and Joseph M. Williams. *The Craft of Research.* 2nd ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 2003.
- Brandstätter, Eduard. "Comparison Based Satisfaction: Contrast and Empathy." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 30, (2000): 673–703.
- Buchanan, Richard. *Rhetoric, Humanism and Design.* In *Discovering Design: Explorations in Design Studies*, edited by Richard Buchanan and Victor Margolin, 23–66. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 1995.

————. Human Dignity and Human Rights: Thoughts on the Principles of Human-Centred Design. In Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader, edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 300–305. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.

- Buchenau M, and Jane Suri Fulton. "Experience Prototyping." Paper presented at DIS 2000, 424-433.
- Burns, Colin, Hilary Cottam, Chris Vanstone and Jennie Winhall. "Red Paper 02: Transformation Design." http://www.designcouncil.info/mt/RED/transformationdesign/ (accessed November 3, 2007).

Buxton, William. "Innovation vs. Invention." Rotman Magazine. Fall 2005: 52-53.

- Chapman, Jonathan. *Emotionally Durable Design—Objects, Experiences and Empathy.* London: Earthscan. 2005.
- Claxton, Guy. *The Hare Brain, Tortoise Mind: How Intelligence Increases When You Think Less.* New York: Harper Collins Publishers. 1997.
- 50 Cooke, Matt. Design Methodologies: Toward a Systematic Approach to Design. In Design Studies— Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader, edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 130–146. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
 - Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly. *Flow: the Psychology of Optimal Experience*. New York: Harper Perennial Publishing. 1990.
 - Danziger, Pamela N. *Why People Buy Things They Don't Need: Understanding and Predicting Consumer Behavior.* Chicago: Dearborn Trade Publishing. 2004.
 - Evenson, Shelley. *Directed Storytelling: Interpreting Experience for Design.* In *Design Studies— Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 231–240. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.

- Forlizzi, Jodi and Cherie Lebbon. *From Formalism to Social Significance in Communication Design.* In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 51–63. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Frascara, Jorge. *Graphic Design: Fine Art or Social Science*? In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 26–35. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Friis, Silje Alberthe Kamille. "Conscious Design Practice as a Strategic Tool." PhD diss., The Danish University of Education: 2006.
- Friis, Silje Kamille and Sune Aagard. "Innovation Toolbox." *Monday Morning* 31, (September 2005): 18–23.
- Fulton Suri, Jane. Thoughtless Acts? San Francisco: Chronicle Books. 2005.
- Gardner, Howard. *Frames of Mind: The Theory of Multiple Intelligences*. New York: Basic Books. 2004.
- Gaver, William. "Affordances for interaction: The social is material for design." *Ecological Psychology* 8, No.2, (1996): 111-129.

------. Curious Things for Curious People. (Working Paper, Royal College of Art).

. "Sound support for collaboration." Proceedings of the Second European Conference on Computer-Supported Collaborative Work, 1991.

- Gaver, William, Andrew Boucher, Sarah Pennington, and Brendan Walker. "Subjective Approaches to Design for Everyday Life." C.H.I. Tutorial, Royal College of Art, London, England, 2003.
- . "Cultural Probes and the Value of Uncertainty." *Interactions* 11, no. 5 (September-October 2004): 53–56.
- Gaver, William, Anthony Dunne, and Elena Pacenti. "Cultural Probes." *Interactions* 6, no. 1 (January–February 1999): 21–29.
- Givechi, Roshi, Ian Groulx and Marc Woollard. *Impact: Inspiring Graphic Design through Human Behaviors*. In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 306–310. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Gladwell, Malcolm. *Blink: The Power of Thinking Without Thinking*. New York: Black Bay Books. 2005.
- Gobé, Marc. *Emotional Branding: The New Paradigm for Connecting Brands to People.* New York: Allworth Press. 2001.

Golec, Michael. *Memory, Instinct and Design: Beyond Paul Rand's "Play Principle"*. In *The Education of a Graphic Designer*, edited by Steven Heller, 163–167. 2nd ed. New York: Allworth Press. 2006.

- 51
- Goleman, Daniel. *Emotional Intelligence: Why it can Matter More Than I.Q.* New York: Bantam Books. 1995.
- Guenther, Kim. "Developing Personas to Meet user Needs." *Online Magazine*, September/October 2006: 49–51.
- Helfand, Jessica. *The New Illiteracy*. In *Screen: Essays on Graphic Design: New Media, and Visual Culture*, 91–95. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2001.

^{———.} Paul Rand: American Modernist. In Paul Rand: Modernist Designer, edited by Franc Nunoo-Quarcoo, 32–44. Baltimore: University of Maryland Baltimore County, Cent. 2003.

- Heller, Steven. What This Country Needs is a Good Five-Year Design Program. In The Education of a Graphic Designer, edited by Steven Heller, 128–130. 2nd ed. New York: Allworth Press. 2006.
- Howkins, John. *The Creative Economy: How People Make Money From Ideas*. London: The Penguin Press. 2001.

Jensen, Rolf. The Dream Society. New York: McGraw-Hill Publishers. 1999.

- Katzenback, Jon R and Douglas K. Smith. *The Wisdom of Teams: Creating the High-Performance Organization*. New York: HarperCollins. 2003
- Kouprie, Merlijn. "Empathy Tools: Literature Report on Empathy and Communication." Graduate Report, school unknown, 2006.
- Laurel, Brenda. *Muscular Design.* In *Design Research: Methods and Perspectives,* edited by Brenda Laurel, 16–19. London: The MIT Press. 2003.
- Lavin, Maud. *Who Gets to Say What to Whom?* In *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 87–90. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Lawson, Bryan. *How Designers Think: the Design Process Demystified*. 4th ed. Burlington: Architectural Press. 2006.
- Levitt, Helen. *Photo Play.* In *If/Then: Play: Emerging Forms, Emerging Behaviors*, edited by Janet Abrams, 140–151. Ede: Veenman Drukkers. 1999.
- Lofland, John and Lyn. *Analyzing Social Settings: A Guide to Qualitative Observation and Analysis.* 2nd ed. University of California-Davis: Wadsworth Publishing.1984.
- Lupton, Ellen. *The Designer as Producer.* In *The Education of a Graphic Designer*, edited by Steven Heller, 214–219. 2nd ed. New York: Allworth Press. 2006.
- Malins, Julian and Carole Gray. *Visualizing Research: A Guide to the Research Process in Art and Design.* England: Ashgate Publishing. 2004.
- Manzini, Ezio. *Prometheus of the Everyday: The Ecology of the Artificial and the Designer's Responsibility.* Translated from the Italian by John Cullars. In *Discovering Design: Exploration in Design Studies,* edited by Richard Buchanan and Victor Margolin, 219–243. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 1995.
- Margolin, Victor. "Design, the Future and the Human Spirit." *Design Issues* 23, No. 3. (Summer 2003): 4–15.
- Mattelmäki, Tuuli. "Design Probes". Master's Thesis, University of Art and Design, Helsinki, 2006.
- McCoy, Katherine. *Education in an Adolescent Profession*. In *The Education of a Graphic Designer*, edited by Steven Heller, 3–12. 2nd ed. New York: Allworth Press. 2006.
- Graphic Design in a Multicultural World. In Design Studies—Theory and Research in
 Graphic Design, a Reader, edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller,
 200-205. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
 - McCullough, Malcolm. *Discovery in Digital Craft: Keyboards, Digital and Musical*. In *If/Then: Play: Emerging Forms, Emerging Behaviors*, edited by Janet Abrams, 133–139. Ede: Veenman Drukkers. 1999.
 - Moed, Andrea. *Introduction.* In *If/Then: Play: Emerging Forms, Emerging Behaviors*, edited by Janet Abrams, 16–39. Ede: Veenman Drukkers. 1999.
 - Moggridge, Bill. Designing Interactions. Cambridge: The MIT Press. 2007.
 - Nelson, George. *Good Design: What is it for*? In *Design and Art: Documents of Contemporary Art,* edited by Alex Coles, 18–22. London: The MIT Press. 2007.

- Niedderer, Kristina. "Designing Mindful Interaction: The Category of Performative Object." *Design Issues* 23, No. 1 (Winter 2007): 3–17.
- Nini, Paul J. Sharpening One's Axe: Making a Case for a Comprehensive Approach to Research in the Graphic Design Process. In Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader, edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 117–129. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Norman, Donald. *Emotional Design: Why We Love (or Hate) Everyday Things*. New York: Basic Books. 2004.
- . "Usability Expert: Steven Heller Interviews Don Norman." By Steven Heller. *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 128–133. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Oulasvirta, Antti, Esko Kurvinen and Tomi Kankainen. "Understanding contexts by being there: case studies in bodystorming." (Working Paper, Springer-Verlag) 2003.
- Parrish, Patrick. "Design as Storytelling." Tech Trends 50, No. 4 (July/August 2006): 72-82.
- Pink, Daniel. A Whole New Mind: Why Right-Brainers Will Rule the Future. New York: Riverhead Books. 2006.
- Postrel, Virginia. *The Substance of Style: How the Rise of Aesthetic Value is Remaking Commerce, Culture and Consciousness.* New York: Harper Perennial. 2003.
- Pruitt, John and Jonathan Grudin. *Personas: Practice and Theory*. In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 311–332. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Rand, Paul. *Politics of Design.* In *Design and Art: Documents of Contemporary Art,* edited by Alex Coles, 34–37. London: The MIT Press. 2007.
- Riley, Chris. *The Cultural Influence of Brands: In Defense of Advertising*. In *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 69–81. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Rock, Michael. *Graphic Authorship*. In *The Education of a Graphic Designer*, edited by Steven Heller, 200–209. 2nd ed. New York: Allworth Press. 2006.
- Ruby, Perrine and Jean Decety. "How Would You Feel versus How Do You Think She Would Feel? A Neuroimaging Study of Perspective-Taking with Social Emotions." *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 16, No. 6 (2004): 988–999.
- Sanders, Elizabeth B.-N. "Collective Creativity." LOOP: AIGA Journal of Interaction Design Education, no 3. (August, 2001): 1–6.
 - --------. "Design Research in 2006." *Design Research Quarterly* 1, No. 1 (2006): 1–8.
- . "A New Design Space." Proceedings of ICSID Conference, Seoul: Exploring Emerging Design Paradigms, Seoul, Korea, October 7–11, 2001. 317–324.
- Sanders, Elizabeth B.-N, and Pieter Jan Stappers. "Co-creation and the New Landscapes of Design." Working paper for *Co Design*, 2007.
- Schon, Donald A. *The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action*. New York: Basic Books, Inc. 1983.
- Schmidt, Michael. *Responsibility Answers Absurdity*. In *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 115–127. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.

Stairs, David. "Altruism as Design Methodology." Design Issues 21, No. 2 (Spring 2005): 3-12.

53

- Storkerson, Peter. *Communication Research: Theory, Empirical Studies and Results.* In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 158–178. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Thackara, John. *In the Bubble: Designing in a Complex World*. Paperback ed. Massachusetts: MIT Press. 2006.
- Throop, Elizabeth C. *Being Serious, Being Popular: Positioning Design Research.* In *Design Studies— Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 64–72. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Tigerman, Stanley. "Designers and Architects: Cheryl Towler Weese Interviews Stanley Tigerman." By Cheryl Towler Weese. *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 134–142. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Tufte, Edward. *Visual Explanations: Images and Quantities, Evidence and Narrative.* Cheshire, Connecticut: Graphics Press. 1997.
 - ------. Beautiful Evidence. Cheshire, Connecticut: Graphics Press. 2006.
- Tyler, Ann C. *Educating Design Citizens: Passing on a Mind, Body, Spirit Practice*. In *Design Studies—Theory and Research in Graphic Design, a Reader,* edited by Audrey Bennett, with a foreword by Steven Heller, 333–353. New York: Princeton Architectural Press. 2006.
- Vienne, Véronique. *Human Values in Commerce: A Profile of Sara Little Turnbull.* In *Citizen Designer: Perspectives on Design Responsibility*, edited by Steven Heller and Véronique Vienne, 100–105. New York: Allworth Press. 2003.
- Wilkes, Michael, Etan Milgrom & Jerome R Hoffman. "Towards More Empathic Medical Students: A Medical Student Hospitalization Experience" *Medical Education* 36, (2002): 528–533.

glossary of terms

Approach

Holistic approach: Including or involving all of something (in this case, relevant aspects of being human), especially relating to all of somebody's physical, mental and social conditions, not just to one particular aspect of human needs.

Humanistic approach: One that concerns itself with human affairs, seeking to promote human welfare. Something with **Humanistic** qualities exhibits a strong concern for human welfare, values and dignity. Emphasizing secular, individualistic and critical thought; per-taining to human affairs and human nature.

Confidence: Full trust, belief in one's self. Self-assurance, certitude, self-reliance or boldness.

Creativity: The ability to design things that show imagination and originality (as well as skill in the craft)

Design

Personal design: Through personal interactions, one can gather intimate information about someone, getting to know him/her in his/her eccentricities and distinctive behaviours. I refer to personalized design as something that is not only custom-made but more importantly, deeply related to the person's life and situation. This could mean emotionally-embedded designs, or designs that speak to a specific characteristic or niche.

Specific design: A design that is either specific, personal or custom-made refers to a design that is distinguished from others—one that is distinctly definite and tailored to suit a detailed situation or niche.

Humility: The act of having or showing a modest estimate of one's own importance. A researcher who is sufficiently comfortable with himself to focus on his participant may be said to manifest humility.

Innovative: Something that offers a new way or process of doing things.

55 **Mindset:** An attitude, disposition, intention or inclination. Sanders' map of differing mindsets refers to the varying degrees of possible attitudes or dispositions one holds about himor herself which conducting research. The mindset can often imply the researcher's intentions or inclinations during the interviews. For instance, a researcher with an **expert mindset** seeks to validate a premonition or previously devised hypothesis, while a researcher with a **participatory mindset** seeks to discover the questions and answers with his participant during the interview.

Quirky: A peculiarity of behavior; an idiosyncrasy. An unpredictable or unaccountable act or event; a vagary. Something about one's character that is unconventional or eccentric.

56 appendix of tables

About the appendix: Table 1 demonstrates the framework for my final analysis concerning each team's mindset and method (figure 27). For ease of use, I have collected the answers to the questionnaires by team (Tables 2–5). Lastly, each team's poster presentations, which describe their final design solutions, are also included in the Appendix (Tables 6–10). Table 1

framework for analysis

	TEAM A	TEAM B	TEAM C	TEAM D	TEAM E	
_						
						/
-						
						I
-						
-						
-						
-						
						_ :
-						
_						
_						
_						
-						i
-						i
-						- 1
-						i
-						
-						_ 1
						-
Π						
-						- ·
-						
						(

TEAMMATES:

Expressed interest in gathering the co-creator's personal history

Asked for input from the co-creator

Reviewed the product with the co-creator

Implemented changes from co-creator's feedback

Implemented changes from classmates' feedback

Met with co-creator more than 3 times

Met with their co-creator voluntarily

Expressed genuine concern for the co-creator's well-being

Expressed genuine interest in the co-creation process

Brainstormed ideas that related directly to their co-creator's life (not a general application)

Said they enjoyed the challenges of the course

Seemed to enjoy their teammates

Implemented critique from instructor

Role-played and prototyped the designs with other classmates and/or with co-creator

Seemed comfortable presenting their ideas to large groups

Equally distributed tasks and responsibility in the group

Seemed socially comfortable among their peers

Laughed at their mistakes and graciously accepted failure in front of their classmates

Produced a number of potential solutions from the brainstorming process

Willingly shared their mistakes as a learning opportunity for others

Emphasized the personal context of their co-creators throughout the process

Tolerated minor creative difficulties

Did not seem easily stressed

Thought broadly and creatively instead of logically or systematically

DESIGN SOLUTION:

Was original (the design did not reference other devices that had already been designed, or discussed in class)

Varied greatly over the course as they prototyped and implemented feedback

Was specific to the co-creator (Used a specific insight found from co-creation) Table 2

questionnaire one

Do you agree/disagree: I feel like my experience and the information I gathered from my co-creator(s) will positively affect my creative process as I start to generate ideas for the assignment. (Why/why not?)

- A Agreed. But, I feel more (right now) that [the] experience of having this different kind of research might have been more important to change my views rather than my current designs.
- A Yes, I feel I've gained insight to the emotional state of the co-creators that I couldn't have gotten otherwise. I could probably have gotten some idea of their emotions surrounding the relationship but it would have been mostly based on my assumptions. And [I] will hopefully be able to generate more personal and empathetic solutions.
- A Right now no, since we didn't find out that much from Chris. But in some ways when we have talked more to Steven, yes.
- B I think it allows one to really experience who the user is—and therefore become more connected with the design process.
- B Agree. Kathy really helped with a general direction for the project and also opened up the way for a new course of action.
- C I agree. All the problems for the design process is found [sic] from the co-creator's words.
- C Yes, because we've learnt [sic] more details about

her specific issues! Maybe only some apply to her but some do apply to others, then we also learned the cause and affect [sic] according to her experience. I think our design would be specific to her.

- C Compared to traditional research methods, we rely on our own observations a lot. Every single word our co-creator said, I paid a lot of attention to it. It just made me much more alert about human interactions/behaviors and it became my inspiration.
- D Yes, because it will give me something to work with.
- D Yes, although I still can't see where this project is going (where we'll end up), which is kind of cool.
- D Yes, because this experience will bring me to more thinking [sic] and it taught me how to interact with others for informations [sic] that I would base my creativity on.
- E Why? It allowed [me] to learn how important it is to learn about a co-creator as an example [for a greater] audience for projects.



disagree

04 My understanding of design has changed through this class



02 In general, I am very aware of myself around others



I can see that co-creation

is an important part of

the design process

_05

disagree

03 I feel that co-creation was a worthwhile experience



06

agree

I would like to try co-creation again on other projects



questionnaire two

Do you agree or disagree: I feel like my experience and the information I gathered from my co-creator(s) has helped me generate really new ideas that I would never have thought of before this process. (Please give an example.)

- A For sure. Thinking of something that tracks emotion rather than requiring input. Also, understanding how lack of communication between caregivers can affect the client. Understanding how little control the clients actually have and how much they depend on the people around them to interpret their wants and needs. 2): Agree: I learned the importance of nutrition post-surgery. I don't have an idea yet.
- A Yes!
- A New to me. (i.e., things I couldn't have thought of alone). However, they are not new as such to the world (monitoring devices, etc.)
- B Absolutely agree, with a co-creator its easier to scenario situations [*sic*] because you can visualize real people—the community kitchen idea.
- B Yes. One of our first ideas of a community cooking exercise.
- C She gave us specific problems and helped us pinpoint the design to a certain extent.

- C For example, we wouldn't have thought of bluetooth luggage system if she'd not mentioned about her trouble handling groceries and [her guide dog] at the same time.
- D Yes it does. We would never [have] thought of a "bluetooth luggage" that followed the owner around (so she didn't have to carry it), if Amanda didn't tell us that carrying and holding the dog at the same time was a problem.
- D Although our group has gathered a lot of information from our co-creators, I keep feeling that we are not really focusing on [a] specific co-creator for idea brainstormings.
- D Somewhat agree. Because our group can now see how important certain aspects of healthcare may be to some people, so it gave us an idea what we should focus on. But I don't think it was [a] revolutionary thought.
- D Gathering any information and experiences from others allows you to look at things from a differ-

ent angle and consequently come up with new/ different ideas. Some of them, you may have come up with on your own and others not, it's hard to say, but I absolutely agree that it is helpful and valuable.

- E Knowing about his daily routine and life helped me a lot! (That's what we wanted to learn [about])
- E Yes, for example I had an idea of creating [a] new device (watch) and all the functions inside of the watch. But the other idea (hologram) popped out from [the] others and [we have] ended up with a watch that has a hologram device on it.
- E Brainstorming process is very useful to improve my concept. [sic] Our group is still thinking and narrowing down our broad ideas. Like, the life of the co-creator gives us a chance to think [of] more ideas.



_01 In general, the brainstorming process is enjoyable to me







_02 I feel that co-creation has eased my brainstorming process



_04 I feel that co-creation has complicated my brainstorming process



_05 I would like to create something specific for my co-creator to benefit from



_06 I would like to create something meaningful



Table 4

questionnaire three

Can you explain when you knew you had found the right, "final" idea to present? (In other words, how did you know when you were "done"?) Please explain this process: 1) Please give an example: 2) Did your relationship with your co-creator effect this result? How?

- A I didn't really have that moment as far as concept went. It was more a matter of time-restraint. We always saw more and more potential with the project, and it was the clock that put an end to it. 1) Packaging formal resolutions and aesthetic considerations could have been taken further. 2) I guess the co-creator did limit our explorations due to the limited amount of time he had to see us.
- A Sorry, but in my group we are NEVER done! We have to work a bit more on the final. 1) No.
- B No I don't know when we had the right idea, as for being done, when are you that? Tonight? 1)
 Louise I think slightly nudged the ball in the right direction. 2) No.
- B I was not sure of our "final concept" was finished developing until after we presented and received feedback from the class and Louise. 1) No. Our results were based on intuition and other research (our co-creator helped us establish a direction and kept us on track with that.
- C I am not sure if we are really done? The concept we go with, [sic] I guess you can say that it is

done. How did we know we were done? I think it is more like Louise helping us get there. As we kept editing the idea. 1) Also, we believe that it is fully functional by imagining and role-playing it. 2) She helped us refine and show that it works, so yes.

- We presented many ideas to our co-creator. She basically acted like a judge throwing out lots of ideas that she thought just wouldn't work. And she told us which ones had potential. 1) after brainstorming. We picked [the] top six ideas and took it to Amanda, our co-creator. And she said she liked some of the ideas and told us which ones. And that's how we knew we got the final idea (Louise also helped us a lot to decide which was the right idea). 2) Yes. We had a good time with Amanda. We felt comfortable contacting her and enjoyed chatting with her.
- D Today, when everything actually came together. It was hard to see where we were going all semester, but when we put everything out in front of us, everything came together, we saw the light. 1) Building the interface and the process of the

identity of the interface made it real—realistic and tangible. 2) I don't think so. It helped to get to our end result but I don't think the relationship had much to do with it, for our team anyway.

- D When our concept finally seemed to fit well with the key words from our co-creators and group. 1) We had narrowed [it] down to two concepts—the info kiosk and the body scanner. We were going to go with the scanner, but then it just didn't feel right and we realized it didn't match up with our keywords and goals. Then we switched to the kiosk and it felt right. 2) Yes, it made us create something more personal.
- D When our group went back to think more about our co-creators we came back to the focus from going everywhere. 1) We weren't focusing on our co-creators and the results we got form the toolkit. Eventually we went back to focus on our cocreators. 2) I don't think so.



_01 I feel that co-creation helped me to create something very new and different than what I'm used to doing



_03 Creating the final design concept was easier because of the co-creation process



_02 I feel that co-creation is an essential tool for the design process



_04

I made something meaningful and personal because of the co-creation experience



Table 5

questionnaire four

Aae

20-29 (average 20-23)

01 Why did you take this class?

- A To learn about interactive design. To work with ID-students in order to get a different perspective.
- A Because I wanted to gain better research and team skills and I also was excited about working with people who were from CommD. [sic] I also really liked the idea of working on a project that was more focused on the process than on the product.
- A I liked that it was a group project since I am an exchange student [and] to be able to discuss ideas with students with another background. [Another instructor] recommended it to me.
- B It seems like a good opportunity to try something I might not have otherwise.
- C I thought it'd be useful for me when I graduated. I saw what the previous class did last year and I thought it was very interesting.
- C I want to work with people who are not in my department. Also, the project we do in this class is something that I've never done before. [sic]
- D I was moved up to 3rd year after the first week of school and there weren't many classes I could get into. The head of the design department recommended this class because I have a strong background in sociology and psychology.
- D Because I think the role of the designer is changing just like the world is changing and interaction design is a growing and developing area in the job market (Also, I like that it's a crossover with communication design).
- D To apply my experiences working in healthcare; to learn more about the design process and in- D I don't know yet. We'll see once we get the workdustrial design.

02 Do you think you will like this class?

- A Yes. Because it will push my thinking into places I've been afraid to go before (group work, 3D design, working with disabled people)
- A Yes. I really would like to see an outcome from it. A 3D object. Even though it's interesting anyway.
- A Yes. I already do. However, I am getting a little nervous because I feel it may have been a little too unclear in the beginning as to what direction we would be going in. I am feeling like I could have made a more informed decision on who a co-creator should be.
- B Yes, I am enjoying it already.
- C I think so, although, I can see there are tons of work laying ahead but the skills I gain from this class will get me somewhere in the future.
- C Yes. I like to try out new things, even though it sounds challenging.
- D I'm not sure. It is interesting and I am learning new things and methods but I'm not sure how it can relate to graphic design, or communication design
- D Yes, its very different than all the other courses I've taken which is exciting and I think I'll learn a lot
- D Yes

_02-A Do you think you will like your co-creator

- A I have no idea. He's just like any other person I meet. I don't usually hang out with everyone I meet though.
- A Yes! We have already met him and he is willing to tell us about himself!
- A I feel odd saying that I like him (or not). I would say that I worry about whether or not we can communicate and understand each other, as far as communication styles.
- B Not sure, I don't have one yet. Actually, I'm sure L will
- C I think so. I am excited to learn and see what she will teach us about our project.
- C Yes, if they are friendly and willing to help.
- D Does it really matter whether I like them or not? I think it comes down to whether we will be able to get some good information or not.
- books back.
- D Yes.

_03 What do you like about design?

- A Multi-discipline, creating, thinking, pondering, making sense of the world, beauty
- A That there are many different ways to coming up [*sic*] with a good project. It can be target group based, more arty, fun, inspiring, important, help-ful, environmentally friendly.
- A Mostly, that it is creative problem solving. I like the solutions aspect more than the form finding side of it. I used to just like making things I like but now I get more excited about things that I did not see coming.
- B Because it is everything at once.
- C I like design in many aspects. I like how it can be useful to people (functional). I like the varieties. I like the mass production aspect of it. I like to see how many products are totally garbage, but they are still sold. I love crazy marketing.
- C It's really logical. It trains you on how to think and its principle can be applied on everything in life, not just design.
- D Everything! I like the way good or great design makes you feel. Either good or bad, happy or sad, concerned or not. The way it makes you think or how well it just blends in.
- D I like that its a creative and visual field and it keeps you thinking.
- D The opportunity to combine art and problem solving; creativity to functional everyday problems.

_04

In your opinion, what is the role of the designer in co-creation?

- A Push/pull—help the co-creator express him/herself in a manner that will help your design (depending on what part you need it for)
- A To understand one person (the target group) that particular person's needs may be suited to many others. Which means the solution for one person's needs can solve problems/make life easier for many people.
- A To listen/observe and interpret what the co-creator says and does. But at the same time [one] should "study" objectively. Nor should they take everything word for word. What is more important is to listen openly and keep your eyes out for patterns.
- B To translate the needs of the co-creator into a usable product.
- C Interpreter and researcher. Someone who can create something to enhance the life of the target user.
- C To learn, to observe, to find out the area that needs to be improved. They direct the whole process of co-creation. They're the directors.

- D To somehow voice or communicate the concerns, opinions, views of that (those) people/person. Using their knowledge and experiences and the designers' abilities to solve a potential or existing problem.
- D To observe and interpret these observations and come up with ways to use the information to create something useful.
- D To be a facilitator to guide the creative process and enable others to apply what they know to creatively solve problems—provide a framework.

_05 What do you think makes a good designer?

- A Every possible trait that you have as a person will inform your design. The designers who learn how to draw on these will understand why the design will be successful or not. And you need technical skills to complement this.
- A Someone who cares about the target group/user and develops a product after their needs. Or someone who makes people think in a different way/a better way, or just makes people interested.
- B The ability to communicate clearly.
- A Someone who can separate themselves from their work as far as personal ideal outcomes.
- C A person who's open-minded. Able to see and listen. A person who is a multi-tasker and adaptable. Someone who can turn simple things into a meaningful object.
- C Explore a wide range of possibility, try out as many things as you can. Good design is generated by hard work. An adequate amount of time spent on the project is necessary. And also, the designer must be a person who is well rounded, has a lot of different experiences, open-minded and always wants to try out new things.
- D Open-mindedness. The ability to dive into uncertainty, knowing that there is a solution to every problem. Hard work, strong work ethic, and being able to meet deadlines.
- D Creativity, knowledge, attention to detail.
- D Open-mindedness; holistic, big picture view; good team worker; empathy; organizational skills.

_06

What do you hope to learn from this class and/or co-creation?

- A To work in teams. To push myself in the physical research aspect of design. To get over my fear of collecting data from real people. To learn about a completely new field. Time management.
- A How to really work with a team not just present to a team. Also how to work through a bottom up

process and sort out all the problems that arise when you don't decide who or what you will be working with (co-creator, project).

- A To learn how to be good team member (you can always get better!) and the importance to trust other team members and to also believe in myself and my ideas.
- B How to interpret the way a co-creator feels about their interactions with products/services and how to translate/transform their experience for the better.
- C How to practice it? How to create a successful product using method? How to make a successful researcher?
- C How to cope with uncertainty, really fuzzy-ended design problems. How to get along with your teammates when you will be working together for the whole semester. How to access resources, especially the ones you're not familiar with (e.g., Braille). How to connect with people who are completely outside of your social circle (e.g., cocreators)
- D To be a better designer.
- D To learn about and explore different ways of approaching design than I'm used to. To be openminded toward co-creation.
- D About how to use probes/toolkits/co-creation models in design; to learn about the similarities and differences btwn the occupational problem solving process and the design problem solving process. [*sic*] To learn about different ways within a healthcare setting.

_07

Do you think your perception of design will change over the semester?

A Yes. If I succeed with the plans above.

- A I guess it always changes a bit the older you get and the more projects you have/the more you see of other cultures, etc.
- A I'm not sure but I hope that it will because that's kinda the idea behind going to school, aside from technical skills. [*sic*] I wouldn't consider my education a success if my opinions/understanding didn't change dramatically over the span of this program.
- B Yes. I am sure I will discover new methods for design, as well as the experience of working with a co-creator will be a great learning tool [*sic*] in itself.
- C I think so. I think I would be more open-minded and be more observant. I think I would be concerned about the target user more than concerning [*sic*] about creating what I like.
- C Yes. Co-creation is a brand new way of doing research for me. Before, I thought all "research" meant was reading a whole stack of books. Now, I wonder whether there are new methods for design, too, not just the divergent/convergent method we have right now. Also, I think now

maybe design has more to do with "finding the problem" instead of "solving the problem".

- D Not sure, probably. I think it may have changed already. I'll probably be more aware of industrial design, which may have an influence on my packaging skills.
- D Yes. Because as I've previously mentioned, I have never taken a design course that was taught this way with this approach so I think there is potential to learn a lot and therefore would change my perception [*sic*] of design in some way.
- D Yes—I think that I will insight into the application of design to designing of a system or service versus creating a tangible [*sic*] product/ object.

_08

What do you think is the point of participatory design?

- A To get real (first hand) experience to inform your design. All the little input that you can never get from doing it second hand.
- A I guess it means something that has to do with participating? In that case the same answer as number four.
- A To avoid failure. You can't pretend to know/understand the needs, choices or lifestyle of anyone else without talking to them.
- B To better analyze the experience of the user/cocreator.
- C To not make "crap" products. To make some thing that is actually working/something that is useful to the target market/user. To focus on a single person to learn about a particular group of user. [*sic*]
- C It's more humanistic, so it's more about the person, not the numbers or the data. Also, it's more personal and specific.
- D It may be useful when the designer needs a little inspiration or push. May hit a more specific group or need. Get into the head of the consumer by giving them the creative power, I'm not sure if it has a place in graphic design.
- D To learn from others.
- D To gain a richer understanding of the circumstances, needs you are designing for, to experience this versus only observing.

_09

Do you think "awareness" is important as a designer?

A Yes and no. In short thinking and considering (although ideal) everything can make your work. [*sic*] Being "ignorant" and having a really narrow focus can bring out a design that wouldn't otherwise have been possible.

- 64
- A Yes. Because designers have a big responsibility to chose the best materials, etc., for their projects that are good for the environment. I miss that in my education, I want to know more about materials.
- A I think it is crucial. You need to be aware to make informed decisions, it might be good to be less informed in some aspects but I think awareness is key.

B Yes.

- C Yes it is. I think designers should be aware of what they make or decide to do all the time. As well as being able to give up their ideas at any time when they realize the better idea that's more beneficial to the client or user.
- C Yes. Designers need to be able to observe, always knowing the trends and being eager to find out what's going on in the world. The world is changing at such a fast pace, if we want to participate in the change or even initiate the change, then we need to be observant.
- D It is one of the most important aspects of design. Awareness or knowledge. Without these who are you designing for?!
- D Definitely.
- D Yes

_9A

Do designers need to have a good level of social awareness to make good design?

- A Yes.
- A It depends on the application and your approach to the challenge.

B Yes.

- C Yes, I believe so. I think a good designer needs to have a very good communication skills which can help them get themselves into or out of any type of situation. With that, they would be able to explore and observe the society [*sic*] at 100% scope.
- C Yes, you need to know what's happening out there, know what kind of technology is available. What are the unmet needs, [sic] don't design something outdated.
- D Agree. Knowledge is power. Social awareness can prevent mistakes, faux-pas, poor design.
- D I guess disagree in the way that it depends on what you're designing. Certain things may only require awareness in a certain niche.

D Yes.

_10

Do you think a designer has to be a "people person"?

- A It definitely is important since 99% of the time create things to cater to people [*sic*]. Again, see number nine. Having a different angle than "people" can influence different but equally brilliant designs.
- A I'd like to think [so] not because I have trouble sometimes but I think some aspects are very important. One does not have to be a social butterfly but needs to be aware and adaptable to different social settings and communication styles.
- A Not always. If you spend a lot of time making mock-ups, trying things yourself, putting yourself in the target group's situation and research a lot on the Internet, in books, etc., you can still come up with great ideas.
- B Yes, because they are designing for people and they need to be able to communicate with others to discover the problems that need to be addressed.
- C It doesn't really matter as long as they are adaptable. For example, me, I am not particularly talkative or extroverted with anybody, but I am willing to talk to anyone if I need to, for the sake of my project or whatever reason. I think I've gained this skill from working as a salesperson. Being able to talk to strangers about random things and make them comfortable is a very important skill for a designer who wants to work with participatory design research methods.
- C Yes, because you're designing for people! You don't have to be extroverted/social butterfly, but you have to care about others. Be passionate about your work and envision that the product will help people in a big way. Design is for people.
- D Unless you have someone doing the schmoozing for you, like a marketing person or PR, you need to be good (to a certain extent) with people. If you're a freelancer, you need to be confident and have the ability to sell your solutions.
- D "People person" skills help anyone in life but I don't think it's the most important thing to be a designer.
- D Yes :) in order to communicate with others/although I think that someone can be a 'people person' and not be understanding/empathetic/ open-minded and [*sic*] vvice versa someone can be all of those and be a people person. I think it may be important to be able to speak with other people comfortably and have them feel comfortable with you.

Table 6

team A

Sensing and interpreting biosignats.

What Sensimols a three-part system that will visualize emotions through color by sensing and interpreting.

Why Sensimo was developed in order to enhance the givers and clients with advanced physiemotional relationship between care cal and verbal disabilities.

the caregiver can gain an awareness of how their client is feeling and respond with informed care. By providing the caregiver with a visu-al representation of their client's otherwise unexpressed emotional state,

By enabling the caregiver to better understand their client's fealings they have the opportunity to develop a closer bond that may not have other-wise been possible.



Arousal



By serveral biosignals (signals from the body) a generalized emotional stat can be inferred based on a scale of valence negative to positive) and arousa







team B



Locates restaurants in the user's vicinity and ranks them in best-choice order according to the menu. The user also has the option to order the food ahead of time for timely pick-up.

Select

Presents the user with a number of meal options that have been preplamed by their nutritionist and orders the ingredients from a local grocery store to be prepared later at home.

Contact

Connects the user to their personal nutritionist via email or phone for a anytime and anywhere consultation.

elsa

mobile nutrition guidance

Carr Institute. Working with a nutritionist and using the co-creation method (Liz Sanders), we narrowed down the end-user group for this project to business professionals with career-oriented goals and in turn, declining health.

Elsa is an application that links the user's communication device lsuch as a Blackberry) with a profile created by a professional nutritionist using assessment software. Elsa translates the user's needs as taken from this profile into foods and portions that are asay for the user to understand, find and prepare themselves. The application uses tools such as GPS and Yellow Pages to search through what is available within walking distance of the user, or the user's home. The practicality of this service relies on an online database of ingredients and nutritional information from restaurants as well as other food and grocery vendors, which could be projected to exist in the near future. Given the complexity of certain diets and the challenges in finding proper food to eat within a busy, work-regulated schedule, Elsa is able to guide the user into making the right choices anytime.

Table 8

team C





Uture possibilities: Incorporate RFID tag / Audiable

Î i; ∷∵.;.∷.. W Georgia ::::::: Robson I

: : : : : : Barclay Smithe

are facing Jdle of the

nterface la

יייי: "ייי:": "ייי: "ייי: ": " Pacific Centre 220m
 Image: Second ₽.:• :'::: :':::'::: ...:: Robson Square 90m

listed above the raised line, while the streets behind you are listed below. Important public places are listed accordingly. gnment of the s eets ahead of irface layout

ublic ann sticker m

her task was to staille Track that









Table 9.1

team D



Domain of Inquiry: Community Access to Healthcare

How can we increase awareness of Healthcare services in communities and help people access these services?



















Key Values

Word of Mouth Proximity Quality

Strategies

It has a physical presence and its own identity in the community

Accessible through internet

 It can cross-reference with existing databases to keep information accurate and current

Works in collaboration with community organizations and services

Facilitates and encourages the notion of sustainable community

Interaction Design

Table 9.2

team D



Community Access to Healthcare

Health Avenue is an interactive user experience that allows people to build their Healthcare Team based on personal preferences and locate services in their neighbourhood. It can be found within the community or accessed through the internet.



Visual Identity







н

'Who are the people in your neighborhood?"

Explore what healthcare resources are available in your community.

Interaction Design



Ę

touch screen

Interface



69



team E



Table 10.2

team E



Functions on Device

- Examiner detects the user's health condition and send the date to the display.
- Joanne gets constant feedback on her stress levels, blood pressure and temperature measure from the device.
- Family can get detailed information about Joanne's health condition.
- Display also enables friends and family to communicate in codes via emoticons.
- When the user's stress level or blood pressure reaches to the dangerous condition, the ring or bracelet vibrates and the color changes.